



PESTICIDE IMPACT ON WILD BEE MORTALITY AND FEEDING BEHAVIOUR

Master's thesis presented by Justine DEWAELE for the degree of Master of Biological Science

Supervisor: Prof. Denis MICHEZ

University of Mons Faculty of Sciences Laboratory of Zoology

Academic year 2020-2021

ABSTRACT

Dewaele, J., 2021. Pesticide impact on wild bee mortality and feeding behaviour. Master's thesis in Biological sciences – Biology of Organisms and Ecology, University of Mons.

The agricultural intensification plays an important role in the current wild bee decline. The development of pest resistances has led the industry to develop an increasing diversity of molecules. Since the last century, the pesticide risk assessments mainly focus on the honeybee mortality, *Apis mellifera*. There is a need for gathering more data about the lethal and sub-lethal effects of pesticides on wild bees, as their morphology, physiology and ecology greatly differ from the honeybee.

In this study, wild bee species have first been exposed to oral and topical acute doses of the insecticidal molecule, sulfoxaflor. We measured and compared their sensitivity. *O. cornuta* and *B. pascuorum* were more sensitive than *B. terrestris*, the second most used model species in ecotoxicological studies. Besides the ecological characteristics, there might be morphological and physiological specific traits influencing their sensitivity.

In the second part of this work, workers of *B. terrestris* were chronically fed with syrup treated with two pesticides, sulfoxaflor and the fungicidal molecule, azoxystrobin, under its commercial formula, Amistar®, as well as a mixture between these two pesticides. Sulfoxaflor and Amistar® alone impacted the feeding behaviour at field-realistic doses. However, their mixture showed some additive effects. These results revealed that those molecules can impact the feeding behaviour of *B. terrestris*, probably by impairing their digestion and cognition.

Our results confirmed that, as suggested by recent comparative studies, wild bee sensitivity to pesticide varies, and some species are more sensitive than the model species. Moreover, we showed that field-realistic doses of sulfoxaflor and Amistar® can impair the feeding behaviour what could explain the decrease in bee reproductive performances observed in previous studies.

Keywords: Comparative ecotoxicology – Pesticides – Wild bees – Feeding behaviour – *Bombus terrestris* – Pollinators

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

During this master's thesis, I received a lot of help, and support. Therefore, I could not start in any other way than by thanking all the people who helped me.

First, I would like to thank the Professors Pierre Rasmont and Denis Michez for having me welcomed in the laboratory of Zoology for this master's thesis project. During my five years as a student at the University of Mons, they have shared all their knowledge and passion for the ecology. Denis Michez has already trusted me, as he gave me the opportunity of undertaking two abroad internships before. Once again, he decided to give me his support, and precious advices to complete this very project, as master's thesis director.

Then, my thanks goes to the friends I met at university, Luca, François B., Charlotte, Antoine and Thibault who helped me, worked with me, and supported me during the classes as well as out of the university. Manon and Lola, two long-time friends, deserve a special thanks as they came with me on field to collect living bees, and to share my passion for these tiny, but resourceful insects.

My gratitude also goes to people from the laboratory of Zoology. I must thank Dimitri, Mira, Diego, Maryse, Kimberly, Victor, Guillaume, and William for their help during the collect and weighing sessions, their scientific advice, their support, and their incomparable kindness.

I would like to thank especially François D.K. for his help, support, patience and kindness. He helped me during the collect, and weighing sessions, and always made the positive out of every situation.

There are some people without whom nothing would be possible. I would like to thank my parents for their trust, and support. They gave me everything I needed to become the student, the future researcher, and the person that I am today.

Last but not least, I sincerely thank Alexandre Barraud, PhD. student working on the project to which this master's thesis was directly linked. This work would not exist as it is without his advices, his help, his patience and support. His kindness and his sense of joy made the teamwork a great time to share.

Table of contents

1. Introduction	7
1.1. An overview of the bees	7
1.1.1. Origin and evolution	7
1.1.2. The ecology of bees: a story of diversity	8
1.2. The bee decline	. 11
1.2.1. Importance of wild bees	.11
1.2.2. Threats on bees	.11
1.3. The pesticide use	. 14
1.3.1. Generalities	. 14
1.3.2. Bee exposure to pesticide	. 15
1.3.3. Pesticide impacts on bees	. 17
1.3.3.1. Mechanisms	. 17
1.3.3.2. Lethal and sub-lethal effects on bees	. 20
1.3.4. Methods and models currently used in pesticide risk assessments	. 22
2. Research questions and aim of the study	. 24
3. Material and methods	. 25
3.1. Pesticides	. 25
3.2. Individual acute sulfoxaflor exposure	. 26
3.2.1. Bee species selection, and sampling	. 26
3.2.1.1. Bombus species	. 27
3.2.1.2. Halictus scabiosae	. 28
3.2.1.3. Andrena vaga	. 29
3.2.1.4. Megachilidae species	. 29
3.2.2. Experimental setup	. 30
3.2.2.1. Acclimation	. 31
3.2.2.2. Sulfoxaflor exposure	. 31
3.2.2.2.1. Oral exposure	. 31
3.2.2.2.2. Topical exposure	. 32
3.2.2.3. Observation period	. 33
3.3. Effects of sulfoxaflor on feeding behaviour	. 33
3.3.1. Bee species selection	. 33
3.3.2. Equipment description	. 33
3.3.3. Experimental setup	. 35
3.4. Statistical analyses	. 35
3.4.1. Individual acute sulfoxaflor exposure	. 35

3.4.2. Effects of sulfoxaflor on feeding behaviour	
3.4.2.1. Data treatment	
3.4.2.2. Data analysis	
4. Results	
4.1. Individual acute sulfoxaflor exposure	
4.1.1. Laboratory condition survival	
4.1.2. Oral acute sulfoxaflor exposure	
4.1.3. Topical acute sulfoxaflor exposure	
4.2. Effects of pesticides on feeding behaviour	
5. Discussion	
5.1. Impact of acute sulfoxaflor exposure	
5.2. Impact of pesticides on feeding behaviour	
6. Conclusion and perspectives	
7. References	
8. Appendices	
8.1. Appendix 1 – Pesticide acute exposure of the wild bees	
8.2. Appendix 2 – Complete results of <i>Bombus terrestris</i> exposure	
8.3. Appendix 3 – Monitoring of the automatic dispenser room	71
8.3.1. Temperatures	71
8.3.2. Humidity	

1. Introduction

1.1. An overview of the bees

1.1.1. Origin and evolution

Around 130 mya, the plants evolved towards a new group: the Angiosperms (Le Guyader & Lecointre, 2017). This group relied on pollen transport, commonly called pollination, for their reproduction (Reece & Campbell, 2011). This process can be performed either abiotically (e.g. wind), or biotically (e.g. through animals). The Anthophila group found within the Apoidea superfamily of the Hymenoptera order, specialized itself into biotic pollen transport. They evolved and differed from primary carnivorous wasps, to become specialized pollen and nectar feeders, better known as bees, that harbour branched hairs all over their body (Michez *et al.*, 2011, 2019). Nowadays, around 20,000 species of bees are described, of which 10% are found in Europe (Fig. 1; Nieto *et al.*, 2014).



Fig. 1 - Families of bees. A) Phylogeny of the bees according to Danforth *et al.*, 2006. The families found in Europe are marked in red, and illustrated by an example species. *current taxonomy classifies these families under the family Melitidae *sensu lato*. (adapted from Michez *et al.*, 2010; picture credits: Mandy & Michael Fritzsche). B) Table summarizing the diversity and endemism in bee families found in Europe (adapted from Nieto *et al.*, 2014).

Although some other groups from the whole Hymenoptera order also specialized themselves in pollen transport, 15% of the hymenopteran pollinator species are found in the Anthophila group (Michez *et al.*, 2019).

1.1.2. The ecology of bees: a story of diversity

The buff-tailed bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris*, and the domesticated honeybee, *Apis mellifera*, are the most popular bee species. However, because of a big knowledge gap about their diversity and ecology, the other wild bee species are far less known (Wilson *et al.*, 2017). Yet, there is a high variability in the Anthophila group, and it can be described into three main elements: (i) the social behaviour, (ii) the nesting strategy, and finally, (iii) the lectism, i.e. the range of their floral choice.



Fig. 2 – Examples of wild bee sociality. A) A solitary bee, *Trachusa byssina* collecting nesting material (picture credits: Nicolas Vereecken), B) a primitively eusocial colony of *Bombus impatiens* (picture credits: Rob Cruickshank), and C) a nest aggregation of the solitary bee, *Andrena vaga* (picture credits: Nicolas Vereecken)

The first characteristic, the social behaviour, varies from solitary individuals to truly eusocial colonies (Michener, 1969). While only 6% of the species are social, the solitary species account for a major part of this group. The solitary females fill individual cells with nectar and pollen to entirely support the needs of their larva, until emergence. They nest on their own (Fig. 2-A), either isolated from individuals of the same species, or in aggregation. If the conditions are suitable, it can lead to areas with hundreds of nests (Fig. 2-C). When females live together, in the same nest, but provide resources for their own progeny, they are described as communal species. Lastly, several different systems are found under the social organisation type (Fig. 2-B). The quasi-social colonies are composed of females living

together, but provisioning for more than one progeny. In the semi-social species, females of two different generations, or with truly defined social groups (castes), can be found in the same nest. Finally, the eusocial organization with two types of complexity, namely primitive and highly social. In both types, the colony comprises individuals from several generations, and is divided into true castes (i.e. egg-layers and workerlikes), with some of them progressively feeding the larva. First, the primitive organization presents either no morphological differentiation between social groups, or a shallow differentiation. However, in the highly eusocial colonies, the workers differ morphologically and physiologically from the queen. The colony also presents some complex communication systems to indicate food resources, or nesting sites (Michener, 1969).



Fig. 3 – **Examples of nesting strategies among wild bees**. Some cavity nesters: A) *Osmia bicolor* nesting inside an empty snail shell, and B) *Osmia caerulescens* closing its nest, made inside a metallic pipe. Some ground nesters: C) *Andrena vaga* digging its nest, and D) *Colletes hederae* at the entrance of its nest (picture credits: Nicolas Vereecken).

The nesting strategy is also a characteristic that varies among the wild bee species, and two main techniques can be distinguished (Michener, 2007). The first group is the ground nesters that characterize more than 55% of the bee species (Cane & Neff, 2011). Some bees of this group, called the fossorial bees, dig their own nests into the soil (Fig. 3-C and D). The choice of substrate to dig can be very species-specific, with some species nesting into loess

soil, and other into sandy soil. Some other species will use abandoned rodent burrows, or other cavities already dug. The second group comprises the cavity nesters that can use for example, empty snail shells, birdhouses, or holes found into vertical walls (Fig. 3-A and B; Michener, 2007). These cavities can be filled with plant parts, and can be closed by resin, or mud depending on the species (Benton & Fremlin, 2018; Horne, 1995; Maciel De Almeida Correia, 1977; Michener, 2007).



Fig. 4 – **Oligolectic and polylectic bees.** A) *Colletes hederae*, an oligolectic bee on *Hedera helix* (Araliaceae), B) *Halictus scabiosae*, an oligolectic species on Asteraceae, here foraging on *Taraxacum* sp., C) *Megachile ericetorum*, an oligolectic species on Fabaceae, here foraging on *Lathyrus odorata*, and *Bombus terrestris*, a polylectic species found foraging on several different plant species, D) *Digitalis purpurea* (Scrophulariaceae), E) *Hedera helix*, and F) *Erica carnea* (Ericaceae). (Picture credits: Nicolas Vereecken)

Finally, both adults and larvaeof bees rely on floral resources such as pollen and nectar, sources of proteins, lipids and energy (Michener, 2007). Some bees, called polylectic bees, can use resources from a broad range of plant species (Fig. 4-D, E and F). Other bee

species, the oligolectic ones, specialized themselves for some particular families, genus, or even species of plants (Fig. 4-A, B, and C; Michener, 2007; Peeters *et al.*, 2012; Westerkamp, 1997). This specialisation can be behavioural with specific skills developed to handle complex floral labyrinth protecting the pollen (Westerkamp, 1997), or physiological to deal with toxic secondary compounds occurring in nectar and pollen of some plant species, such as species from the Asteraceae Family (Müller & Kuhlmann, 2008; Praz *et al.*, 2008).

1.2. The bee decline

1.2.1. Importance of wild bees

In temperate and tropical zones, animal-pollinated plants represent respectively 78 and 94% of the plant species (Ollerton *et al.*, 2011), including a majority of the domesticated plants. Hence, the economic value of animal pollination is estimated at 150 billion euro per year (Gallai *et al.*, 2009; Potts *et al.*, 2016). While the majority of animal pollinators are insects, a big part of the crop pollination is performed by bees (Geslin *et al.*, 2016; Klein *et al.*, 2007). They are necessary for the pollination of more than 30% of the main agricultural crops. Moreover, some of these crops provide needed macro- and micro-nutrients, e.g. spinach producing vitamin A (Chaplin-Kramer *et al.*, 2014; Klein *et al.*, 2007). To enhance pollination, honeybee hives are frequently put near crops. Yet, many studies highlighted that wild bees also enhance the fruit set, quality and therefore, the economic value of cultures, such as strawberries, and apples (Garibaldi *et al.*, 2013; Garratt *et al.*, 2014; Klatt *et al.*, 2014; Klein *et al.*, 2007). Besides, wild bees are needed for several plants that need specific pollination, e.g. buzz-pollination for tomatoes, and potatoes. This consists into a particular handling of the anther by the bee, what honeybees are not able to perform (Goulson, 2003).

1.2.2.Threats on bees

Bees are affected by global change (Fig. 5; Nieto *et al.*, 2014)), such as several other insect pollinator groups, e.g. butterflies (Parmesan *et al.*, 1999) and hoverflies (Miller-Struttmann *et al.*, 2015). Since the last century, modifications in wild bee distribution, ecology and diversity have been recorded from all around the world (Biesmeijer, 2006; Cameron *et al.*, 2011; Duchenne *et al.*, 2020; Rasmont *et al.*, 2005; Zattara & Aizen, 2021). In Europe, almost ten percent of the bee species are actually threatened. Moreover, due to the gap of data about more than fifty percent of the European bee species, this number could be underestimated (Fig. 5-B; Nieto *et al.*, 2014). As a matter of fact, national trends and

conservation status showed higher values in United Kingdom and Belgium (Drossart *et al.*, 2019; Powney *et al.*, 2019). For example, 61% of the Belgian wild bee species are shown to be in decline since the past 70 years (Duchenne *et al.*, 2020). Nowadays, the causes of bee decline seem to be mainly anthropogenic (Fig. 5-A). These are the climatic change, habitat losses, and agricultural intensification (Goulson *et al.*, 2015; Miličić *et al.*, 2018).



Fig. 5 – **Threats on bees.** A) Major factors threatening bees in Europe, and B) IUCN Red List status of bees in Europe. DD = Data deficient, CR = Critically endangered, EN = Endangered, VU = Vulnerable, NT = Near threatened, LC = Least concern (adapted from Nieto *et al.*, 2014)

One of these human-mediated threats against wild bees is climate change (Fig. 5-A). For example, 36% of the European bumblebee species are adapted to forage at temperate and cold climates. It was shown that these would meet the limit of their suitable area by 2100. Indeed, helped by the increased of the global temperatures, they are currently expanding their distribution range northward (Kerr *et al.*, 2015; Rasmont *et al.*, 2015). In addition to the distribution changes of wild species, potential mismatches between bees and their floral resources have been brought out (Fig. 6; Gérard *et al.*, 2020). For example, global warming is leading to a decrease in insect body size, and, particularly, pollinator tongue length. However, the flower corolla seems to become deeper with the increase of temperature. Therefore, a risk

of morphological mismatch between the bee and its host plant could disrupt some plantpollinator interactions (Anderson *et al.*, 2014; Gerard *et al.*, 2018).



Fig. 6 – **Potential mismatches plant-pollinators** that could appear due to climate warning (adapted from Gérard *et al.*, 2020).

In addition to climate warming, bees are also affected by the increasing urbanization and the intensification of agricultural land use (Fig. 5-A; Aguilar *et al.*, 2006; Fortel *et al.*, 2014; Vray *et al.*, 2019). These are leading to habitat losses and fragmentation, and are negatively affecting wild plant communities along with pollinator population sizes (Hunter, 2002). Besides its consequences on habitat changes, agricultural intensification is impacting wild bees in many other ways. The use of agrochemical products, including pesticides, and synthetic fertilizers, seem to play a role in the bee decline. Indeed, these are affecting the targeted crops, as well as the surrounding areas (Carvalheiro *et al.*, 2020; Goulson *et al.*, 2015). Fertilizers use leads to water and soil eutrophication, affecting the plant composition and wild bee communities (Carvalheiro *et al.*, 2020). Meanwhile, lethal and sublethal effects of pesticides seem to directly affect wild bee communities (Goulson *et al.*, 2015; Heard *et al.*, 2017).

Yet, all bee species do not respond to anthropogenic threats in the same way (Bartomeus, Park, et al., 2013; Rader et al., 2013; Tuell & Isaacs, 2010). The high variability of their ecological traits can help understanding this response variation (Cariveau & Winfree, 2015). Indeed, species-specific population trends over time, and differential responses to the same human-mediated change have been shown (Arena & Sgolastra, 2014; Bartomeus, Ascher, et al., 2013; Cariveau et al., 2013). While several species are under high climatic risk, other ones are taking advantage of the current changes to increase their occupancy, their flight period, and their distribution (Duchenne et al., 2020; Ghisbain et al., 2021). Polylectic bees could for example be less affected by this change than oligolectic bees. Hence, their ability to forage on several different species could buffer the risk linked to the appearance of mismatches (Bartomeus et al., 2011). Besides climate change, oligolectic bees are strongly affected by land-use (Cane et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2010). However, this effect appears to be species-specific, as it will depend on the host plant. While the increase of specialist bees is linked to the planting frequency of their crop (Bischoff et al., 2009), some others specialized to forage on Fabaceae for example are in decline. As a matter of fact, this trend follows the decrease of the plant host use as cover crops (Scheper et al., 2014).

1.3. The pesticide use

1.3.1. Generalities

Worldwide, the food demand is growing, and the agricultural sector tries to enhance its productivity to keep up with this demand (Deguine *et al.*, 2014). This agricultural intensification led to the emergence of monocultural crops, in order to maximize food production in terms of both quality and quantity. Since the last century, agrochemicals of which synthetic fertilizers and pesticides are applied on fields to maximize the crop yields (Boardman, 1986). These respectively supply the crops with directly available nutrients, and eradicate weeds, pathogenic organisms, and herbivorous predators (Deguine *et al.*, 2014). Indeed, the aggregation of thousands of plant individuals from the same species in a limited area, as well as the use of limited genetic diversity stand for the optimal conditions of pest outbreaks. Pesticides are therefore needed to control their populations (Botías *et al.*, 2015; Godfray *et al.*, 2014; Hillocks, 2012). Nowadays, pesticides comprise a broad molecule variety targeting different organisms, of which (i) herbicides which target unwanted plants (e.g. glyphosate), (ii) fungicides which parasitic fungi, (e.g. strobilurins), and, finally, (iii) insecticides which target insect pests, (e.g. neo-nicotinoids and sulfoximins).

During and after the Second World War, while organic compounds were more commonly used until then, synthetic pesticide production The peaked. dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, commonly known as DDT, was the first widespread synthetic insecticide. It was successfully used to stop several epidemies, during the war, as the typhus epidemy in Naples, and later to eradicate malaria (Boardman, 1986). After that, a great variety of chemical compounds were produced, or were discovered as having pesticide properties (Deguine et al., 2014). However, while the diversity of new developed chemicals was rising up, two main issues were encountered: (i) concerns about health and environmental consequences of the massive pesticide use started to be brought up, and (ii) the development of pest resistances constrained the agrochemical firms to developed new compounds. Therefore, in 1991, the Pesticide Authorization Directive 91/414/EEC was initiated. The objective was to review the plant protection products available on the market, and establish a list of authorized active molecules in Europe. In 2012, 50% of the active ingredients used in Europe before 1991 were consequently withdrawn from sale (Boardman, 1986; Botías et al., 2015; Deguine et al., 2014; Godfray et al., 2014).

1.3.2. Bee exposure to pesticide

Concerns about the pesticide effects on human health were early brought up (Hayes, 1956). Rachel Carson (1962), in her book "Silent Spring", originally started to raise the public awareness about the consequences of agrochemical use on the health and environment. However, their role in the decline of wild bees remains mitigated. By their reliance on floral resources (Michener, 2007), and their high presence on flowering crops and surrounding areas, bees are frequently exposed to pesticides (Godfray *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, several different routes of pesticide exposure can be detected for the wild bees (Fig. 7).

Firstly, some pesticides have a systemic mode of action. This means that they are transported through the plant, and can be found in pollen and nectar. Adult bees can thus ingest those molecules while they are foraging, and bring them back to the nest (Krupke *et al.*, 2012). The exposure can be different between solitary and social species. Indeed, reproductive females of social species are not foraging, or at least not during their whole life. They are thus less likely to be exposed. In contrast, reproductive individuals of solitary species that forage alone to provide resources to their own progeny, are way more at risks (Sgolastra *et al.*,

2019). Moreover, the larval feeding differs greatly between social and solitary species (Michener, 1969). Solitary species make a stock with unprocessed pollen to ensure the whole development of their progeny. Larvaeof solitary species can therefore be exposed to high quantities of accumulated pesticides. However, larvaeof social species benefit from a colonial detoxification as they are fed by trophallaxis with the glandular secretions of workers (Sgolastra *et al.*, 2019).



Fig. 7 – **Summary of the main routes of pesticide exposure for wild bees.** The grey-backed mining bee, *Andrena vaga*, was chosen to illustrate the multiple routes of exposure, because it can be exposed during all its lifecycle through each of the routes presented (picture credits: Sophie Gierens for the adult *Andrena vaga* foraging on *Salix* sp.; Nicolas Vereecken for the *Andrena vaga* egg on its pollen ball; IYIKON on thenounproject.com for the plant and root icons).

While being sprayed, the pesticide can either directly be in contact with the foraging bees, or diffuse in the soil and surrounding waters. Moreover, the seed coating treatment dust from the seed drilling process can also contain large agrochemical concentrations that can be deposited on crop soil, or diffuse in the surrounding areas (Brown *et al.*, 2016; Goulson *et al.*, 2015; Krupke *et al.*, 2012; Sgolastra *et al.*, 2019). The ground-nesting bees can therefore be exposed to pesticides directly through contaminated soil. Indeed, soils of crops and their surrounding areas can accumulate high quantities of pesticides, such as neonicotinoids, applied as seed treatments, e.g. neonicotinoid estimated half-lives of the order 15-300 days (Willis Chan *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, they are sometimes found in the soil in greater quantities than in nectar and pollen. Moreover, it is important to note that, in Belgium, a majority of the bee species are ground nesters, and can therefore be affected through this route of exposure (Drossart *et al.*, 2019).

Furthermore, exposure to mixture of pesticide that could present synergistic effect can occur directly while the bee is foraging on various crops treated at the same time with diverse pesticides (Pettis *et al.*, 2013). According to pollen samples found on honey bees, they forage not only on crops, but also on weeds which can be subject to pesticide drift from other treated crops (Baron *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, tank mixtures are also used on crops to either increase the spectrum of a product activity, to delay the appearance of resistant strains by minimizing the selection strength, or use the synergistic effects (Bliss, 1939; Koziol & Witkowski, 1982; Macht, 1929). Therefore, the risk of exposure to mixture for a bee is the same as the risk of exposure to pesticides used alone, and the adverse effect can be enhanced by synergisms (Siviter *et al.*, 2021).

1.3.3. Pesticide impacts on bees

1.3.3.1. Mechanisms

Nowadays, a wide variety of insecticidal and fungicidal molecules are used in the agricultural sector. They present different mode of action as for example by being an enzyme inhibitor, or the agonists of several chemical signal systems.

For example, neonicotinoids is a family of insecticidal molecules that are structurally close to nicotine, and act as nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists (Fig. 8-B). They cause damages in the central neuronal system of its target, i.e. piercing and sucking insects (Gross, 2013; Tomizawa & Casida, 2003). In the early time of their use, pesticides were designed to kill pests, without making discrimination between targeted and non-targeted organisms.

Therefore, in the 90s, neonicotinoids were produced with the primary idea of achieving a greater specificity (Bass & Field, 2018).



Α

Fig. 8 – **Modes of action of strobilurin fungicides, and neonicotinoid-like insecticides.** A) The azoxystrobin molecule binds at the Q_0 site of cytochrome b from cyt bc_1 complex located in the inner mitochondrial membrane. It blocks the electron transfer between cytochrome b and cytochrome c_1 , and disrupt the energy cycle to halt the ATP production (based on Bartlewicz *et al.*, 2016). B) The neonicotinoids, and sulfoxaflor act as agonists of the nicotinic acetyl-choline receptors (based on Tomizawa & Casida, 2003) (both illustrations are created with BioRender.com)

While manufacturers were strongly claiming that used field concentrations were not toxic for bees and other pollinators, the scientific community investigated the neonicotinoid use, as main cause of several beehive deserting events, known as "Colony Collapse Disorder" that happened during the winter 2006-2007 in the United States. In 2013, European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) banned the use of neonicotinoid on flowering crops, and started a

two-years review of neonicotinoid insecticide risks (Bass & Field, 2018). In 2018, three main used insecticides of this family, i.e. thiamethoxam, clothianidin and imidacloprid, were banned from all field crops (Siviter *et al.*, 2020). Around ten years ago, a new insecticide, now registered for use in 81 countries, has been discovered by Dow Agroscience (Babcock *et al.*, 2011; Zhu *et al.*, 2011). Sulfoxaflor (Fig. 9-B), the only sulfoximin-based insecticide, acts through a similar mechanism than the neonicotinoids, i.e. acting as nAChRs agonists (Sparks *et al.*, 2013). This molecule has an equal to higher activity level on the economically important species already targeted by the neonicotinoid insecticides, such as the cotton and green peach aphids. Moreover, the overexpression of the monooxygenase enzymes implied in the resistance mechanism against neonicotinoids seems to have no effect on Sulfoxaflor (Babcock *et al.*, 2011).





Fig. 9 – Chemical structures of A) the azoxystrobin molecule, a strobilurin fungicide, and B) Chemical structure of the sulfoxaflor molecule, a sulfoximin pesticide with a similar mechanism than neonicotinoid.

Another family of widely used pesticides is the strobilurin family. This important class of fungicides is globally used on crops such as cereals, turfgrass, potatoes, grapevines, of which the sells represent 10 % of the fungicide market. They are inspired by natural fungicidal derivatives of β-methoxy-acrylic acid, produced by basidiomycete wood-rotting fungi, and the gliding bacterium, Myxococcus fulvus. It inhibits mitochondrial respiration by binding at the Qo site of cytochrome b from cyt bc1 complex located in the inner mitochondrial membrane of most eukaryota. It therefore blocks the electron transfer between cytochrome b and cytochrome c₁, and disrupts the energy cycle to halt the ATP production (Fig. 8-A). These molecules were interesting for scientists because this mode of action was newly discovered for the use in agriculture, and there was therefore no cross-resistance towards them. However, the natural substances were not specific enough, and new synthetic molecules were manufactured to only target fungus species. As an example of this class, in 1966, azoxystrobin (Fig. 9-A) was the first strobilurin molecule to be sold, and its sells were worth to 415 million dollars making it world's biggest selling fungicide in 1999. This molecule is now registered for use on 84 crops of 72 countries, and acts on more than 400 crop-disease systems. It can be applied either by foliar application, seed treatment, or directly in furrow (Bartlewicz et al., 2016).

1.3.3.2. Lethal and sub-lethal effects on bees

Great concerns about neonicotinoid responsibility in the current bee species decline through negative effects on mortality, on reproductive success, and sublethal effects on behaviour have already been highlighted in several studies (Barraud *et al.*, 2020; Cresswell *et al.*, 2012; Feltham *et al.*, 2014; Gill & Raine, 2014; Laycock *et al.*, 2012; Phelps *et al.*, 2018). Despite the substitution potential of sulfoxaflor over neonicotinoids on the market, the fact that they share a same mode of action raises concerns about the potential similar sub-lethal effects of the molecule on pollinators (Centner *et al.*, 2018). Indeed, in several field-laboratory combined studies, (Siviter, Brown, *et al.*, 2018) highlighted negative impacts on bumblebee colony fitness through lowered reproductive performances. However, in follow-up studies, no impacts of Sulfoxaflor on bee cognition, but a reduced egg-laying in microcolonies experiment was found (Siviter, Brown, *et al.*, 2018; Siviter *et al.*, 2019, 2020). An hypothesis about this can be linked to the nutritional intake (Pettis *et al.*, 2013; Siviter *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, besides data on wild bee species, more studies are needed to understand how sulfoxaflor exposure can impact bee behaviour, food intake, cognition, and reproductive capacity.

While a lot of studies have focused their efforts on insecticide adverse effects on nontargeted arthropods, such as bees, fungicides have received far less attention. However, systemic fungicides can be found in high quantities in soil, nectar and pollen from treated crops (Pettis et al., 2013). As an example, fungicidal molecules were found to increase gut cell mortality in honey bees, and as a consequence, their susceptibility to gut parasites, e.g. Nosema spp. (Pettis et al., 2013). Several colony disorder symptoms, brood abnormalities, queen failure, and adverse effects on bee gut microbiota due to fungicide exposure were also highlighted (Bartlett et al., 2002; Bartlewicz et al., 2016; Steffan et al., 2017). Therefore, there is a need to explore more broadly the sub-lethal effects of fungicide exposure on food intake and nutrition. Several studies already highlighted some strobilurin adverse effects on the digestive system of bees. Indeed, as some of these molecules have been found to affect yeast and microbes present in nectar, they could act on bee digestive flora, and therefore, impact their nutritional intake and feeding behaviour (Campbell et al., 2016). Besides that, it was highlighted that picoxystrobin inhibits the ATP production by mitochondria of bee thorax cells in vitro (Domingues et al., 2017), induces changes in morpho-physiology of hepatonephrotic system, reduces the survival time (Batista et al., 2020), and causes cytotoxic effects on bee midgut epithelial cells which may lead to malnutrition and bad nutrient absorption (Degrandi-Hoffman et al., 2015). Therefore, as already shown with picoxystrobin, azoxystrobin could interfere with nutrition, and food intake (Tadei et al., 2019).

Synergisms are known since before the late 1930's, and have been studied for their capacity of modifying the LD50 (i.e. the dose at which mortality in the sample reaches 50%) of the components alone. However, their sub-lethal effects on bees were not investigated until 1992, with the synergy between Deltamethrin, a pyrethroid insecticide, and Prochloraz, an imidazole fungicides (Colin & Belzunces, 1992). Since then, decreases of bee LD50 of at least one of the mixture components due synergisms between several widely used insecticides and fungicides were observed (Robinson *et al.*, 2017; Schmuck *et al.*, 2003; Sgolastra *et al.*, 2017; Thompson *et al.*, 2014; Thompson & Wilkins, 2003; Wade *et al.*, 2019). The appearance of sub-lethal effects was also highlighted (Brittain *et al.*, 2013). For example, larval exposure of Africanized honeybee to a neonicotinoid insecticide, and a strobilurin fungicide together were found to impacts the behaviour and the survival of emerged bees (Tadei *et al.*, 2019). Studying the synergistic effects of pesticide exposure on bees is as important as studying the impacts of each molecule alone. Indeed, even if one of the applied molecules is declared safe for bees, mixture with other agrochemicals can enhance its activity,

and decrease the bee LD50, or cause sub-lethal effects. Recently, it has been shown that, while sulfoxaflor had lower bee LD50 than the remaining authorized neonicotinoids, this value decreases when exposed at the same time as fluxapyroxad fungicide, a succinate dehydrogenase inhibitor (Azpiazu *et al.*, 2021).

While the evaluation of these effects on bees are mainly done on the honeybee, species-specific sensitivity is being highlighted (Arena & Sgolastra, 2014). Indeed, all bee species differ in their ecological, physiological and morphological traits. For example, they can present lower haemolymph pH that could help with the detoxification process (Ahmad & Johansen, 1973). In addition, oligolectic bees might show higher LD50 than the species mainly used in risk assessment. Model species (i.e. A. mellifera, B. terrestris, and Osmia bicornis) are generalist species, and hence could present less detoxification pathways than some wild bee species that are specialised to feed on plants, already providing toxic secondary metabolites (Praz et al., 2008). For example, the sweat bee, Halictus scabiosae, mainly feeds on Asteraceae (Peeters et al., 2012) which are known to produce pollen and nectar that are rich in toxic secondary metabolites (Vanderplanck et al., 2020). Finally, the specific size and body weight of bees can differ greatly between species, and with it, their sensitivity to pesticides. Besides the fact that the sensitivity has been shown to increase with the surface-tovolume ratio (Johansen, 1972), it has recently been highlighted that the specific bee body weight seemed to be a good predictor of the sensitivity towards acute contact pesticide exposure (Pamminger, 2021).

1.3.4. Methods and models currently used in pesticide risk assessments

The methods currently used to assess the toxicity of pesticide exposure on bees mainly rely on tier-based toxicity tests, a method developed by the International Organisation of Biological Control (IOBC). The tier I tests consist into an evaluation of the toxicity of a chemical compound on mortality and performances under laboratory conditions. During this step, the LD50 is calculated. If the molecule successfully pass through this step, no more tests are needed before placing it on the market (Boller et al., 2006). However, the evaluation of LD50 usually fails to detect sub-lethal effects. Indeed, a wide range of toxic effects due to pesticide exposure can affect the survival of an organism on the long run without instantly affecting the mortality. Moreover, current pesticide risk assessments mostly rely on the domesticated honeybees (Fig. 10-A), because this well-known species is commercially available (Franklin & Raine, 2019).



Fig. 10 – Model species currently recommended in the risk assessment protocols for the testing of chemicals on bees. A) The domesticated honeybee, *Apis mellifera*, B) the red mason bee, *Osmia bicornis*, and C) the buff-tailed bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris*. (Picture credits: Nicolas Vereecken).

By using this species and predicting the results onto wild bees, and bumblebees, the adverse effects on a species could be severely underestimated. Indeed, the impacts and exposure to pesticides on a species in which the reproductive individuals are actually foraging can be different than for the honeybee (Franklin & Raine, 2019). In 2013, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) suggested to include two other surrogate species than honeybee: the buff-tailed bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris* (Fig. 10-C) and solitary bees from the Osmia genus (Fig. 10-B; Spurgeon *et al.*, 2016).

2. Research questions and aim of the study

Current knowledge about bee sensitivity to pesticides is mainly based on mortality test performed on a few species. There is a need to gather more data about the lethal and sublethal effect of pesticides on wild bees. Therefore, the present work aims (i) to compare the effects of oral and topical acute sulfoxaflor exposure on the individual mortality of several wild bee species with *B. terrestris*, and (ii) to evaluate the impacts of oral exposure to sublethal doses of sulfoxaflor and azoxystrobin, as well as their mixture, on *B. terrestris* feeding behaviour.

Species-specific trends are expected towards acute individual sulfoxaflor exposure (Arena & Sgolastra, 2014). Indeed, all bee species differ in terms of ecology, physiology and morphology. The specific haemolymph pH, the detoxification mechanisms probably possessed by some oligolectic bees, or the surface-to-volume ratio and specific mean body size could influence the specific sensitivity (Ahmad & Johansen, 1973; Johansen, 1972; Pamminger, 2021; Vanderplanck *et al.*, 2020).

Concerning the second part of this work, pesticide impacts on the feeding behaviour of *B. terrestris* are expected. Sulfoxaflor presents a similar mode of action than neonicotinoid insecticides (Siviter *et al.*, 2020), and adverse effects on nutritional intake of *B. terrestris* due to neonicotinoid exposure were already brought up (Bartlewicz *et al.*, 2016; Domingues *et al.*, 2017; Pettis *et al.*, 2013). Azoxystrobin might also interfere with the feeding behaviour because it was highlighted that fungicides from the strobilurin family can have adverse effects on the midgut cells, and digestive microbiota of bees (Tadei *et al.*, 2019). Finally, adverse synergistic effects on bees have already been highlighted with mixtures between other strobilurin fungicides and neonicotinoid insecticides, e.g. pyraclostrobin-clothianidin mixture on Honeybee (Tadei *et al.*, 2019).

3. Material and methods

3.1. Pesticides

During the experiments, we used two types of pesticides: the active ingredient of a new type of insecticide, i.e. Sulfoxaflor, and the commercial formula of the fungicidal molecule azoxystrobin, i.e. Amistar®. While these have been showed to be non-toxic for honeybees in semi-field conditions (Tamburini *et al.*, 2021), very little is known about their mode of action, as well as the sub-lethal and lethal effects on wild bees.

Firstly, the sulfoxaflor, is a new type of insecticidal molecule applied on a broad range of crops (Babcock *et al.*, 2011; Zhu *et al.*, 2011). Residue levels of this systemic insecticide can be found in nectar and pollen of sprayed plants (USEPA, 2019). Bees are therefore orally exposed to this molecule. While still little is known about its lethal and sub-lethal effects on wild bee species, adverse effects on the reproductive success of bumblebees were already brought up (Siviter, Brown, *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, we used it in the acute oral and topical exposure experiments, as well as during the feeding behaviour experiments. All sulfoxaflor treatments used in the experiments were derived from a sulfoxaflor (Greyhound Chromatography and Allied Chemicals) solution of 1 mg/mL in acetone.

Then, the azoxystrobin was used during a feeding behaviour experiments alone, as well as in mixture with sulfoxaflor, to evaluate its sub-lethal effects on *B. terrestris*. This systemic fungicidal molecule have already been found on bee-material and on the bees themselves in high quantities (Hladik *et al.*, 2016; Long & Krupke, 2016). However, like for the sulfoxaflor molecule, very little is known about the sub-lethal effects of azoxystrobin and its commercial formulas on wild bees. During the experiments, we used Amistar®, an azoxystrobin-based commercial formula, rather than the active ingredient alone, because previous results showed that, in contrast to sulfoxaflor-based insecticides, the active ingredient was not the only component of the formula to affect the honeybee (Unpublished results). The Amistar® treatments used in the experiments were derived from the 250g/L commercial solutions (Syngenta).

When a positive control was required, a Dimethoate treatment was used. Indeed, a dose of 10 μ g/bee dose ensure a mortality rate of more than fifty percent in the treated group. The Dimethoate treatments were derived from a 10 μ g/ μ L solution in distilled water. This broad spectrum acaricidal, and insecticidal molecule was suggested as reference compound in

toxicity test for bees in the 90's. Indeed, it presented a low variability in terms of times, seasonal activity, and strains of honeybee used. Moreover, the similarity between its oral and topical LD50s on honeybee and the solubility in water and other organic compounds make it an easy molecule to use as positive control (Gough *et al.*, 1994).

3.2. Individual acute sulfoxaflor exposure

3.2.1. Bee species selection, and sampling

First, for the preliminary tests, the buff-tailed bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris*, was used. Since 2016, toxicity test protocols for this species have been added by the international ICPPR and OECD ring-test groups for pesticide risk assessments. Before that, only the honeybee was taken into account for ecotoxicological tests (OECD, 2017b, 2017a). The yearly colonies contain a great number of mature workers, and are commercially available. This allows toxicity tests that require a high number of individuals, such as the determination of LD50. To perform the experiment, queen-right colonies of 100 *Bombus terrestris* workers were purchased from Biobest NV¹ (Waterloo, Belgium). At their arrival in the lab, they were maintained in a controlled room at $25 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C and $60 \pm 5\%$ humidity. They were fed with *ad libitum* biogluc syrup (65% sugar, 35% water), and once a week 10 g of dried freeze *Salix* spp. pollen was given to the colony.

Then, females of eight bee species were taken from the wild, and used to compare the sulfoxaflor sensitivity with *B. terrestris*: two bumblebee species, the tree bumblebee, *Bombus hypnorum* and the common carder bee, *Bombus pascuorum*; one Andrenidae species, the grey-backed mining bee, *Andrena vaga*; one Halictidae species, the sweat bee, *Halictus scabiosae*; and four Megachilidae species, the European orchard bee, *Osmia cornuta*, the blue mason bee, *Osmia caerulescens*, the Orange-vented mason bee, *Osmia caerulescens*, and finally, the large-headed resin bee, *Heriades truncorum*. The bombus species, *Osmia cornuta* and *Andrena vaga* were kept in the same conditions than the *Bombus terrestris* colonies, while the other bees were kept at room temperature.

Four other species were also caught, and brought back to the laboratory. However, *Anthidium manicatum* (Megachilidae), *Dasypoda hirtipes* (Melittidae), *Anthophora plumipes* and *Anthophora quadrimaculata* (Apidae) did not survived to laboratory conditions.

¹ <u>https://www.biobestgroup.com/fr/lutte-biologique-pollinisation-par-les-bourdons</u>



Fig. 11 – Model species for the acute sulfoxaflor exposure experiments. A) *Bombus hypnorum*, B) *Bombus pascuorum*, C) *Halictus* scabiosae, D) *Andrena vaga*, E) *Osmia caerulescens*, F) *Osmia leaiana*, G) *Osmia cornuta*, and H) *Heriades truncorum* (picture credits: bombus species from Andrew Green; other bees from Nicolas Vereecken).

The tested bee species captured in Mons (Belgium) and surroundings were selected their abundance in the region and their survival capacities towards laboratory conditions. Thanks to the implemented "zero-phyto" policy, no plant protection product is used in the city of Mons². Therefore, we can assume that these caught bees were not exposed to pesticides before the experiments.

3.2.1.1. Bombus species

Although primitively eusocial, the lifecycle of *Bombus* species includes a solitary new-born queen that, once mated, will enter in the diapause phase to overwinter in a suitable hibernation place, such as disturbed soil (Goulson, 2010). At the end of the diapause period, the queen will start searching for a suitable nest. In the case of *Bombus terrestris*, it is usually an abandoned rodent burrow, while *Bombus hypnorum* is frequently found nesting into bird houses, or natural cavities dug in the wood (Kells & Goulson, 2003; Rasmont *et al.*, 2015). Once the nest found, the bumblebee queen will start its new colony by laying the first batch of eggs, and incubating the ball made from mixed wax and pollen where the eggs are located. Until the emergence of the first worker bees, 4 days after the laying, she will entirely depend on the resources that she provisioned after she found the nest. Once the workers hatched, they will help the queen to support the larvae by foraging for her, and regurgitating pollen-nectar mixture. At the end a species-specific time of the season, from April to August, males and

² <u>https://www.mons.be/vivre-a-mons/territoire/environnement/biodiversite/zero-phyto</u>

new bumblebee queens are reared. After their emergence, newly born queens will accumulate fat, follow the pheromone-traced route of some males, and mate (Goulson, 2010). Concerning their lectism, bumblebee species are generalist pollinators. However, their floral choice range may be different between species (Goulson & Darvill, 2004). Indeed, species from Bombus genus (Hymenoptera: Apidae, Bombini) present great similarities in terms of morphology and lifecycle, differing almost only by their size, their tongue length, and the emergence date of their queens (Goulson, 2010; Goulson & Darvill, 2004). Their choice will therefore be driven by the availability of the resources, their morphology, but also by their capacity to choose a plant over another, by gauging both the pollen and nectar load and quality that the species can provide to them (Goulson, 2010; Somme et al., 2015). To perform the experiment, a colony of the tree bumblebee, Bombus hypnorum, a smaller species compared to B. terrestris, containing 50 workers was sent from a bee breeding garden in Luxemburg, maintained by Jean Habay. At its arrival at the laboratory, the colony was kept in the exact same conditions as the B. terrestris colonies. In addition, workers of Bombus pascuorum were caught while foraging on Viscia spp. at the "Parc de la Cascade", Hyon, Belgium (N50°26'15.2", E 3°58'04.4").

3.2.1.2. Halictus scabiosae

Another species that was used in the experiment is the sweat bee, *Halictus scabiosae*. Individuals of this species were captured in two different locations of Mons, at "Campus de la Plaine de Nimy", UMons (N50°27'48.5", E3°57'19.2"), and at the "Parc de la Cascade", Hyon, Belgium. They were usually caught while foraging on flowers from the Asteraceae family, such as Centaurea scabiosae. Indeed, this sweat bee is an oligolectic bee on this family. The species presents a particular social organization, and an annual lifecycle, that starts in Spring, when mated females, namely the foundresses, emerge (Batra, 1966; Brand & Chapuisat, 2012). They either overwinter in small groups of sisters, or alone (Ulrich et al., 2009). Once emerged, they, alone or in group of sisters, search for a nesting site, dig a nest up to 30 cm deep, and provision it. The nests of this species can be found in aggregation (Batra, 1966; Bischoff, 2003; Lienhard et al., 2010; Ulrich et al., 2009). Then, the biggest female becomes the dominant egg-layer. Before the first batch of eggs emerges (June-July), she drives the other females out of her nest (Brand & Chapuisat, 2012; Ulrich et al., 2009). The first brood is almost exclusively composed of females that will play the role of workers for their mother, guarding the nest, foraging for her and helping her to raise the second brood (Batra, 1966; Brand & Chapuisat, 2012). At this time, a high level of drifting to other nests by the foundresses can be observed (Gonzalez et al., 2018). Indeed, unlike bumblebee workers that are not allowed to product other females and future queens (Goulson, 2010), first brood females of *H. scabiosae* colonies do not completely lose the capability of producing females, if they are mated by early emerged males. These mated females can either lay eggs in their natal nests or in a neighbour nest, or found a new one (Brand & Chapuisat, 2012). This phenomenon gives a great flexibility to this species social organization, through frequent foundress turnover, and high tolerance between non-nestmates. This phenomenon probably increases the colony survival and productivity, e.g. in small colonies (Brand & Chapuisat, 2014). The second brood comprises both males and females that emerge during the months of August to September. The females will stay in the nest and continue to forage as workers, but once mated, will enter in diapause to overwinter, and start their own colony the next year (Brand & Chapuisat, 2012). Although Batra (1966) suggested that this honeybee-sized species did not present any difference in terms of size between the egg-layers and the worker-like females, a more recent study highlighted that the size differs clearly between castes (Brand & Chapuisat, 2012), in contrast to other primitively eusocial species that remain morphologically indistinguishable (Michener, 1969).

3.2.1.3. Andrena vaga

Adult females of the grey-backed mining bee species, *Andrena vaga*, from the Andrenidae family, were captured directly at the entrance of their nests found in aggregation in Erbisoeul (N50°30'15.1", E3°52'50.7"), Belgium. *Andrena vaga* measures between 13 to 15mm. This species is an oligolectic bee that feeds only on *Salix* pollen, but is exceptionally found foraging on *Taraxacum* sp. or *Crataegus* sp. The nests are usually found in aggregation. *A. vaga* females dig 25 to 60 cm deep burrows that are irregularly verticals, with two lateral burrows at the bottom of the nest where the egg cells are located. The nests are dug into sandy soils, poorly vegetated. At the end of March, the males emerge first and start patrolling around the nest. Then, the female emerges, only mate with one male, and will reject other mating attempts. The female digs a nest, provisions it, and lays her eggs. The larvaewill develop and reach the nymphal stage in the middle of Summer, to hibernate as imago until next Spring (Peeters *et al.*, 2012).

3.2.1.4. Megachilidae species

Species from the Megachilidae family, i.e. the European orchard bee, *Osmia cornuta*, the orange-vented mason bee, *Osmia leaiana*, the blue mason bee, *Osmia caerulescens*, and

the large-headed resin bee, Heriades truncorum, were also used. O. leaiana and O. caerulescens were purchased from Wildbienen + Partner AG³ (Zürich Switzerland). We received them in bamboo sticks, and placed those in a greenhouse tent on the "Campus de la Plaine de Nimy", UMons. O. cornuta and H. truncorum were captured in insect hotels placed around the same location. The female individuals were caught directly at the entrance of the nests. Indeed, these species are cavity nesters that lay eggs inside wall holes, or hollow stems. O. cornuta and O. caerulescens are both polylectic species. On the other hand, O. leaiana, and H. truncorum are both oligolectic bees that are mostly found foraging on Asteraceae flowers, such as Centaurea scabiosae, or Picris spp. The females of O. cornuta can measure between 11 and 15mm, both other Osmia species between 8 and 10 mm, while H. truncorum is a small bee species measuring between 5 and 7 mm. They all have a similar lifecycle. The males emerge first, followed by the females. O. cornuta is the earliest bee of the considered species as it starts its lifecycle at the end of February. O. leaiana is active from April to August, and O. caerulescens and H. truncorum start their lifecycles in March and finish it in August. They mate at the beginning of the season, and start provisioning their nest. Mated females will align nine to 12 cells, separate either by mud, as O. cornuta, by chewed leaves, as the both other Osmia species, or one to ten cells, separate by resin collected mostly on pine trees, as H. truncorum. Then, they close the last cell with a mix of loam and saliva for the Osmia species, or a mix of resin and small gravel for *H. truncorum*. The larvae will develop, and hibernate as imago, excepted for *H. truncorum* which overwinters as pre-pupae (Peeters *et al.*, 2012).

3.2.2. Experimental setup

The experimental setups of topical and oral exposure (for schematic timelines, see Appendix 1 – Pesticide acute exposure of the wild bees) were adapted from the OECD guidelines (OECD, 2017b, 2017a), and the improved protocols for testing agrochemicals in bees (Medrzyck *et al.*, 2021). Although the OECD guidelines recommended the use of at least 30 individuals for each treatment group, due to the fact that the majority of the wild bee species are not commercially available, like *Bombus terrestris* colonies, less individuals were used. All the species were exposed to the oral and topical LD50 values previously found for the model species, *Bombus terrestris* (oral LD50: $0.563\mu g/g$ b.w.; topical LD50: 43.9 $\mu g/g$ b.w.; Unpublished data).

³ <u>https://wildbieneundpartner.ch/</u>

Preliminary tests on the model species were performed following the same protocols as the ones we used with wild bees. During these test experiments to confirm the topical LD50 values, a positive control was used, and consisted into a 10μ g/bee dimethoate treatment. However, the sulfoxaflor topical and oral mortality rates values that we found for *B. terrestris* were not equal to 50%. Therefore, we decided to use the obtained mortality rates, and not the value of 50% to compare with other bee species.

3.2.2.1. Acclimation

Before the beginning of the experiment, each individual was weighted individually, placed under a see-through plastic glass, and fed with *ad libitum* 50% w/w sugar solution through soak capillaries (Fig. 12A; Fig. 13A). Then, they were left at least eight hours in a dark controlled room at a temperature of $25 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C and $60 \pm 5\%$ humidity for the *Bombus* spp., and at room temperature for the other species. They stayed in these rooms during the whole duration of the experiment. For each species, the individuals were randomly assigned to treatment groups of same mean weight. At the end of the experiments, a sample of haemolymph from each individual that was still alive was collected.

3.2.2.2. Sulfoxaflor exposure

3.2.2.2.1. Oral exposure

After the 8 hours period of acclimation, the capillaries were removed from the seethrough plastic glasses before a four-hour starvation period (Fig. 12-B). Then, for each treatment group, spectrophotometer cuvettes were filled with 20μ L of either treatment or control solution, placed under the glasses.



Fig. 12 – **Example of acute oral exposure to sulfoxaflor with** *Andrena vaga*. A) Acclimation period under a see-through plastic glass with a soaked capillary as food source, B) starvation period with the soak capillary removed from the glass, C) positioning of the 20μ L droplet inside the spectrophotometer cuvette, and D) exposure period with the cuvettes under the glass (picture credits: Justine Dewaele).

The cuvettes were left there during the four-hour exposition period during which the consumption was observed every 30 minutes (Fig. 12 – C, D). The negative control solution consisted into a 50% w/w sugar-water solution with 0.05% of acetone. Once a bee consumed at least 80% of the droplet, it was included in the test, and a new capillary soaked with a 50% w/w sugar-water solution was placed back under the glass for the observation period.

To control the evaporation rate during the exposure period, five additional doses have been placed into spectrophotometer cuvettes, under empty glasses. These cuvettes were weighted before and after the three hours of exposure time.

3.2.2.2.2. Topical exposure

For each treatment group, the bees were chilled until fainting (max. ten minutes for the biggest species) before handling. They were then exposed by applying 2μ L droplets with a micro-pipette on the dorsal side of the thorax. The negative control individuals were treated with 2μ L of distilled water with 0.05% acetone. To ensure a homogenic dispersal of the treatment and control solutions on the bee thorax, octylphenolethoxylate (Triton X-100) 0.05% was used as surfactant. Once the 2μ L droplet was applied, the individual was placed in a petri dish until the awakening, and then placed back under the see-through plastic glasses of the controlled room for the observation period.



Fig. 13 – **Example of acute topical exposure to sulfoxaflor with** *Heriades truncorum.* A) Acclimation period under a see-through plastic glass with a soaked capillary as food source, B) chilling process into petri dishes, C) topical exposure by positioning a 2μ L droplet on the bee thorax, and D) recovery period into the petri dish after chilling and before going back under the see-through plastic glass (picture credits: Justine Dewaele).

3.2.2.3. Observation period

After the exposition period, the sub-lethal effects and mortality values were observed, and recorded under red light every 24 hours during maximum 48 hours. At the end, the final mortality rate was recorded.

3.3. Effects of sulfoxaflor on feeding behaviour

3.3.1. Bee species selection

For this experiment, we considered only the model species, *Bombus terrestris*. In total, three colonies of *Bombus terrestris* with a queen purchased from Biobest (Westerloo, Belgium) were used in the experiments. This species was used because it is easily available on the market, and could therefore be used without discontinuing during the three months of the experiments. The colonies were kept in the same conditions, and fed in the same way as the colony used for the acute exposure experiments (see section "<u>1.3.2. Bee species selection</u> and sampling").



3.3.2. Equipment description

Fig. 14 – The ten automatic food dispensers used in the experiments. (Picture credits: Justine Dewaele)

For this experiment, ten automatic food dispensers, built by Michel Sokolowski, were used (Fig. 14), and placed in a room with monitored temperature and humidity (for temperature and humidity data, see Appendix 3 - Monitoring of the automatic dispenser

room), under a 12 hours cycle of artificial light. One machine consists into three main parts (Fig. 15-A). The first compartment includes two pump systems (distribution and purge), all the necessary connections to the recording computer (Fig. 15-B), as well as three 30mL tanks, of which one contains the feeding solution, the second one contains distilled water, and the last one is used to gather waste fluids (Fig. 15-C). This part also contains the lower part of an artificial flower (Fig. 15-F), equipped with a motion sensor and the connections with the computer. The second compartment of the box is a cage where the bees were placed. This is where the artificial flower is allowing the bees to feed (Fig. 15-F). The third part of the box contains a video recording system (Fig. 15-E).



Fig. 15 – **Automatic food dispenser description.** A) Automatic food dispenser, B) connection compartment, C) the three tanks, form right to left: waste, distilled water, and syrup tanks, D) front side of the first compartment, E) camera, F) empty cage compartment with the artificial flower in the middle (picture credits: Justine Dewaele).

When a bee comes inside the flower, it is detected by the motion sensor, and the distribution pump delivers 1μ L of syrup. Once the bee comes out of the flower, the purge pump drains the remaining fluids. To avoid crystallisation of the syrup in the capillaries, a purge program with distilled water was activated at least six times a day. Measurements of the room temperature and humidity were recorded every 10 minutes during the whole time of the experiment and the video recording device took pictures of each box once an hour to check for mortality.
3.3.3. Experimental setup

Four randomly chosen *B. terrestris* workers from the same colony were placed inside of each box, and were exposed during seven whole days. The frequency of feeding movements (responses) was measured, starting eight hours after the bees were placed inside the boxes. Each week, two replicates for each treatment were made, and each month the dose was increased. In total, eight replicates by doses were made.

We administrated, through the artificial flowers, three increasing doses of either sulfoxaflor, Amistar®, or a mixture of both molecules, diluted into 50% w/w sugar-water solutions. The mixture treatments were made from corresponding doses of both treatments alone (Tab. 1). The lowest doses were based on field realistic residual quantities found in pollen and nectar (Piechowicz *et al.*, 2018; USEPA, 2016). Then, these doses were increased two and four times.

Pesticide Period	Sulfoxaflor	Amistar	Sulfoxaflor x Amistar
Month 1	150 ppb	2000 ppb	150 ppb x 2000 ppb
Month 2	300 ppb	4000 ppb	300 ppb x 4000 ppb
Month 3	600 ppb	8000 ppb	600 ppb x 8000 ppb

Tab. 1 - Pesticide treatments and doses used in the feeding behaviour experiment.

The boxes and flowers were cleaned up with soap and rinsed with distilled water each week, and the tubes and tanks each month at the dose shift.

3.4. Statistical analyses

All the statistical analyses were carried out in the R environment v4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021). The generalized linear mixed models were built using lme4 package v1.1-27 (Bates *et al.*, 2015). The Chi-squared and Fisher's tests omnibus and pairwise were performed using the stats package v4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021). All the graphs were produced using ggplot2 package v3.3.5 (Wickham, 2016), associated either with ggmosaic v0.3.3 (Jepson *et al.*, 2021), or ggeffects v1.1.0 (Lüdecke, 2018).

3.4.1. Individual acute sulfoxaflor exposure

To evaluate the effect of acute sulfoxaflor exposure on the mortality of wild bees, Chisquared test were performed. When the expected frequencies were lower than five, we used the Fisher's exact test for count data. Before comparing the sensitivity of wild bees with *B. terrestris*, a correction of the control proportions was needed to take into account the mortality that was not linked to the pesticide exposure (Puntener, 1992). Since the sample sizes and control mortality rates were different between the groups compared, we used the Sun-shepard's formula (Puntener, 1992) expressed as

$$Corrected \ \% = \frac{mortality \ (\%) \ in \ treatment \ + \ change \ (\%) \ in \ control}{100 + \ change \ (\%) \ in \ control} x100$$

Then, in order to compare the sensitivity of wild bees with *B. terrestris* the model species, we used either chi-squared test followed by a pairwise proportion comparison test, or, when at least one expected frequency was lower than five, a Fisher's exact count test followed by a pairwise Fisher's test. Both pairwise tests were performed using the Holm method to adjust the p-value.

3.4.2. Effects of sulfoxaflor on feeding behaviour

3.4.2.1. Data treatment

The recording started at 8 AM, the second day of exposure. In order to take into account the glitches, and short circuits that appeared inside the flower connections during the experiments, only the responses lasting more than one second, and less than ten seconds were taken into account in the analyses.

For each replicate separately, the number of responses per flower was first aggregated for each hour, to make it correspond with the mortality data that were recorded by camera.

3.4.2.2. Data analysis

The day and night response frequencies were analysed separately to avoid autocorrelation caused by the 12-hour cycle of light exposition applied in the experiment room. Because we worked with count data, slightly over-dispersed, we built generalized linear models with negative binomial distribution. In order to consider the non-independence of the data recorded on one flower, we used a random structure corresponding to each hour. Moreover, an offset with the number of alive individuals was used allowing us to work with integer count data while including the mortality. To determine the effect of each treatment on the response frequency, Tukey's post-hoc tests were applied following the models.

4. Results

Heriades truncorum

Osmia caerulescens

Osmia cornuta

Osmia leaiana

4.1. Individual acute sulfoxaflor exposure

4.1.1. Laboratory condition survival

While we did not manage to keep several species alive under adapted laboratory conditions, namely *A. manicatum*, *D. hirtipes*, *C. daviesanus*, *A. plumipes*, and *A. quadrimaculata*, ten wild bee species were tested to be treated either orally, topically, or both with acute Sulfoxaflor doses besides *B. terrestris*. In total, individuals of five spring bee species, and five summer species were caught, placed under adapted laboratory conditions, and exposed to acute Sulfoxaflor doses (Tab. 2).

\pm SE (g) was calculated directly on the living individuals then exposed to the treatments.							
Species	Average mass ± SE (g)	Phenology	Lectism	Sociality			
Bombus terrestris (model species)	0.259 ± 0.003	Summer Spring	Polylectic	Primitively social			
Bombus hypnorum	0.150 ± 0.004	Summer	Polylectic	Primitively social			
Bombus pascuorum	0.153 ± 0.003	Summer	Polylectic	Primitively social			
Halictus scabiosae	0.087 ± 0.004	Summer	Oligolectic	Primitively social			
Adrena vaga	0.146 ± 0.002	Spring	Oligolectic	Solitary			

 0.014 ± 0.000

 0.041 ± 0.001

 0.122 ± 0.002

 0.066 ± 0.005

Oligolectic

Polylectic

Polylectic

Oligolectic

Solitary

Solitary

Solitary

Solitary

Summer

Spring

Spring

Spring

Tab. 2 – Morphological and ecological characteristics of the species used in the experiments. Average mass \pm SE (g) was calculated directly on the living individuals then exposed to the treatments.

However, among the species used in the experiments, the survival rates after 48H of the control differed significatively (Pearson's chi-square test, χ^2 =51.95, df=6, p-value= 1.904689e-09, n=393). The species that survived the most were *B. terrestris*, the model species, *B. hypnorum*, and *H. truncorum* (Fig. 16). Despite the low survival rates of *A. vaga*, *O. cornuta* and *O. caerulescens*, they were yet used in the analysis when the number of caught individuals compensated for the high mortality rate. Finally, the survival of *H. scabiosae*, *C. florisomme* and *O. leaina* could not be tested, as they did not feed on the solution, and were therefore not maintain in captivity any longer.



Fig. 16 – Mortality rates (%) towards laboratory conditions of the treated species. The width of the boxes is proportional to the sample size (N). Species that do not share the same letter have significantly different proportions of dead and alive control individuals after 48 hours under adapted laboratory conditions at p-value<0.05 (Post-hoc, Pairwise comparisons using Pairwise comparison of proportions (Fisher) with Holm correction).

4.1.2. Oral acute sulfoxaflor exposure

Besides the model species, *B. terrestris*, we managed to expose 7 species to an acute sulfoxaflor dose of 0.563 μ g/g b.w. These included two Bombus species, *B. hypnorum*, and *B. pascuorum*; three Megachilidae species, *O. cornuta*, *O. caerulescens*, and *C. florisomme*; as well as *H. scabiosae*, and *A. vaga* (Tab. 3).

Smaating	Average ma	$ass \pm SE(g)$
Species	Control	Sulfoxaflor
Bombus terrestris	0.260 ± 0.006	0.259 ± 0.008
(model species)	n=63	n=63
Bombus hypnorum	0.146 ± 0.005	0.142 ± 0.005
	n=60	n=54
Bombus pascuorum	0.170 ± 0.006	0.172 ± 0.006
	n=54	n =56
Osmia cornuta	0.123 ± 0.003	0.122 ± 0.003
	n=39	n=39
Osmia caerulescens	0.039 ± 0.003	0.039 ± 0.002
	n=12	n=12
Chelostoma florisomme	0.033 ± 0.002	0.034 ± 0.003
	n=6	n=6
Halictus scabiosae	0.086 ± 0.005	0.088 ± 0.005
	n=14	n=14
A drong waga	0.151 ± 0.003	0.142 ± 0.003
Aarena vaga	n=60	n=92

Tab. $3 - Average mass \pm SE(g)$ and sample size (n) of the species used during the oral exposure experiment.

However, it appeared that the proportion of individual that fed on the solutions significantly differs between species (Fisher's exact test for count data with simulated p-value based on 2000 replicates, p-value=0.0005). Since no individual of *O. caerulescens*, and *C. florisomme* fed on the control and treatment solutions, only *B. terrestris* (the model species), *B. hypnorum*, *B. pascuorum*, *O. cornuta*, *H. scabiosae*, and *A. vaga* were used for the sensitivity comparison analyses (Fig. 17).

Finally, out of the six species selected for the analysis, only two presented a significant sensitivity to acute sulfoxaflor exposure. The species were *B. terrestris* (the model species), and *O. cornuta* with respectively 18 (90.3%) and 28 (30%) individuals that died 48 hours after feeding on a sulfoxaflor solution, compared to 0 and 11 (36.7%) individuals from the control group (Pearson's chi-square test, *B. terrestris*: χ^2 =20.86, df=1, p-value=4.9554e-06, n=119; *O. cornuta*: χ^2 =19.04, df=1, p-value= 1.283196e-05, n=61).



Fig. 17 – Feeder proportion (%) in each species used in the experiment. The width of the boxes is proportional to the sample size. Species that do not share the same letter have significantly different proportions of feeders at p-value<0.05 (Post-hoc, Fisher's pairwise comparison of proportions with Holm correction; picture Copyright © Mandy & Michael Fritzsche).

Tab. 4 - Effects of oral exposure to acute sulfoxaflor dose (0.563µg/g b.w.) on the mortality rates of each
species selected for the sensitivity analyses. χ^2 statistic, degrees of freedom and p-values are reported when a
chi-square test was used, and 95%CI and p-values when a Fisher's exact test for count data was used. (Legend:
Number of individuals; expected number of individuals; proportion of individuals)

Species	Treatments	Dead	Alive	Statistic	df	p-value
B. terrestris	Control	0	59	χ²=20.86	1	4.9554e-06***
(model species)		8.92	50.08			
		0%	100%			
	Sulfoxaflor	18	42			
		9.08	50.92			
		30.0%	70.0%			
B. hypnorum	Control	2	56	95%CI=[0.0093, 11.1180]	/	1
		1.60	56.40			
		3.4%	96.6%			
	Sulfoxaflor	1	50			
		1.404	49.60			
		2.0%	98.0%			
B. pascuorum	Control	4	16	χ 2 =3.28	1	0.0699
		6.67	13.33			
		20%	80%			
	Sulfoxaflor	9	10			
		6.33	12.67			
		47.4%	52.6%			
A. vaga	Control	7	14	χ²=1.26	1	0.2608
		9.13	11.87			
		33.3%	66.7%			
	Sulfoxaflor	23	25			
		20.87	27.13			
		47.9%	52.1%			
H. scabiosae	Control	0	6	95%CI=[0.4734, Inf.]	/	0.1818
		1.5	4.5			
		0%	100%			
	Sulfoxaflor	3	3			
		1.5	1.5			
		50%	50%			
O. cornuta	Control	11	19	χ 2 =19.04	1	1.2832e-05***
		19.18	10.82			
		36.7%	63%			
	Sulfoxaflor	28	3			
		19.82	11.18			
		90.3%	9.7%			

Significance level: ***p<0.001

The Sun-Shepard's corrected proportions of *B. terrestris* and *O. cornuta* individuals that died 48 hours after the exposure showed that *O. cornuta* was more sensitive than *B. terrestris* towards acute oral Sulfoxaflor exposure. Indeed, while only 30 % of the *B. terrestris* individuals died after being exposed to a sulfoxaflor dose of 0.563 µg/g b.w., this proportion was higher in the *O. cornuta* treated group, with 93.5% of mortality (Fig. 18; chi-square test, χ^2 =33.05, df=1, p-value=8.9674e-09, n=91).



Fig. 18 – Mortality rates (%) of treated individuals 48H after ingestion of Sulfoxaflor (0.563 μ g/g b.w.) for each species corrected with Sun-Shepard's formula. The width of the boxes is proportional to the sample size. Species that do not share the same letter have significantly different proportion of dead and alive individual 48 hours after the exposure at p-value<0.05 (Post-hoc, chi-square pairwise comparisons with Holm correction; picture Copyright © Mandy & Michael Fritzsche).

4.1.3. Topical acute sulfoxaflor exposure

Due to a lack of caught individuals, *O. cornuta*, *C. florisomme*, and *H. scabiosae* could not be topically exposed. However, besides the model species, *B. terrestris*, five species were topically exposed to acute sulfoxaflor dose of 43.9 μ g/g b.w. (Tab. 5).

Spacing	Average ma	$ass \pm SE(g)$
Species	Control	Sulfoxaflor
Bombus terrestris	0.255 ± 0.007	0.261 ± 0.007
(model species)	n=68	n=67
Bombus hypnorum	0.165 ± 0.023	0.163 ± 0.017
	n=10	n=12
Bombus pascuorum	0.134 ± 0.004	0.135 ± 0.004
	n=53	n=57
Heriades truncorum	0.014 ± 0.001	0.014 ± 0.001
	n=19	n=18
Osmia leaiana	0.070 ± 0.008	0.067 ± 0.013
	n=4	n=4
Osmia caerulescens	0.043 ± 0.003	0.042 ± 0.003
	n=10	n=11

Tab. 5 – Average mass \pm SE (g) and sample size (n) of the individuals topically treated and their control for the four species used and the *B. terrestris* model.

Two Bombus species, *B. hypnorum* and *B. pascuorum*; and three Megachilidae species, *H. truncorum*, *O. leaiana* and *O. caerulescens* were therefore topically exposed, and showed a significative effect of acute Sulfoxaflor exposure on their mortality (<u>Tab. 6</u>).

number of individu	als; proportion	of individ	luals)	(B		, _F
Species	Treatments	Dead	Alive	Statistic	df	p-value
B. terrestris	Control	7	61	χ ² =46.09	1	1.1296e-11***
(model species)		26.19	41.81			
		10.3%	89.7%			
	Sulfoxaflor	45	22			
		25.81	41.19			
		67.2%	32.8%			
B. hypnorum	Control	2	8	95%CI=[0.8588, 101.7337]	/	0.0427*
		4.55	5.46			
		20%	80%			
	Sulfoxaflor	8	4			
		5.46	6.55			
		66.7%	33.3%			
B. pascuorum	Control	21	32	χ²=44.94	1	2.0272***
		37.1	15.90			
		39.6%	60.4%			
	Sulfoxaflor	56	1			
		39.90	17.100			
		98.2%	1.8%			
O. caerulescens	Control	4	6	χ 2 =9.24	1	0.0024**
		7.14	2.86			
		40%	60%			
	Sulfoxaflor	11	0			
		7.86	3.14			
		100%	0%			
O. leaiana	Control	0	4	95%CI=[1.3391, Inf.]	/	0.0286*
		2	2			
		0%	100%			
	Sulfoxaflor	4	0			
		2	2			
		100%	0%			
H. truncorum	Control	3	16	χ ² =26.71	1	2.3679e-07***
		10.78	8.22			
		15.8%	84.2%			
	Sulfoxaflor	18	0			
		10.22	7.78			
		100%	0%			

Tab. 6 – Effects of topical exposure to acute sulfoxaflor dose (43.9 μ g/g b.w.) on the mortality rates of each species. χ^2 statistic, degrees of freedom and p-values are reported when a chi-square test was used, and 95% CI and p-values when a Fisher's exact test for count data was used. (Legend: Number of individuals; *expected number of individuals*; proportion of individuals)

Significance level: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

The Sun-shepard's corrected proportions of dead individuals 48 hours after the exposure for each species were then compared to *B. terrestris* (Fig. 19). Only *B. pascuorum* showed a significatively greater sensitivity with 98.2% ($n_{tot}=57$) of mortality 48 hours after the exposure (Fig. 19; Post-hoc, Fisher's pairwise comparison of proportions with Holm correction, p=0.0003).



Fig. 19 – Mortality rates (%) of treated individuals 48H after exposure to sulfoxaflor (43.9 μ g/g b.w.) for each species corrected with Sun-Shepard's formula. The width of the boxes is proportional to the sample size. Species that do not share the same letter have significantly different proportions of dead and alive individuals 48 hours after the exposure at p-value<0.05 (Post-hoc, Fisher's pairwise comparisons with Holm correction; picture credits: Mandy & Michael Fritzsche).

4.2. Effects of pesticides on feeding behaviour

Concerning all three doses, there was a significant global effect of the treatments on the response frequency (<u>Tab. 7</u>). Firstly, during the exposure to the first dose, the Amistar® and mixture treatment seemed to greatly increase the response frequency (<u>Fig. 20A</u>), more than the sulfoxaflor treatment did during the night (<u>Fig. 20A</u>; GLM negative binomial, Tukey's post-hoc test, p-values<0.001). Indeed, during the day, while the sulfoxaflor and Amistar® treatments significantly increased the response frequency in the same manner compared to the control treatment, the mixture increased the response frequency even more than both pesticides alone (<u>Fig. 20A</u>; GLM negative binomial, Tukey's post-hoc test, p-values<0.001).

Tab. 7 – Model coefficients for the effects of chronic exposure to Sulfoxaflor, Amistar® and a mixture between on the *B. terrestris* response frequency (response number per hour) during the night, and the day periods (GLM, negative binomial family with hour as random effect, and the number of alive worker in the box as offset).

$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Dose	Considered period	Treatments as levels	Estimates ± SE	χ^2	df	p-value
$ \begin{array}{cccc} \mbox{control} & -0.74243 \pm 0.05535 \\ \mbox{mixture} & -0.13267 \pm 0.05314 \\ \mbox{sulfoxaflor} & -0.32394 \pm 0.05651 \\ \hline \mbox{day} & \mbox{Amistar} \mbox{\mbox{\mbox{e}}= intercept} & -0.81740 \pm 0.02943 & 129.45 & 3 & <2.2e-16 *** \\ \mbox{control} & -0.31595 \pm 0.04056 \\ \mbox{mixture} & 0.10338 \pm 0.03941 \\ \mbox{sulfoxaflor} & -0.01325 \pm 0.04171 \\ \hline \mbox{Doss} 2 & \mbox{night} & \mbox{Amistar} \mbox{\mbox{\mbox{\mbox{mixture}}} & -0.92161 \pm 0.03195 & 57.864 & 3 & 1.68e-12 *** \\ \mbox{control} & -0.19971 \pm 0.04544 \\ \mbox{mixture} & -0.18342 \pm 0.04200 \\ \mbox{sulfoxaflor} & 0.07341 \pm 0.04117 \\ \hline \mbox{day} & \mbox{Amistar} \mbox{\mbox{\mbox{\mbox{\mbox{mixture}}} & -0.31891 \pm 0.03036 \\ \mbox{mixture} & -0.16966 \pm 0.03145 \\ \mbox{sulfoxaflor} & 0.31891 \pm 0.03034 \\ \hline \mbox{\mbox$	Dose 1	night	Amistar®=intercept	-1.06675 ± 0.04294	208.35	3	< 2.2e-16 ***
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			control	-0.74243 ± 0.05535			
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			mixture	-0.13267 ± 0.05314			
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			sulfoxaflor	-0.32394 ± 0.05651			
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		day	Amistar®=intercept	-0.81740 ± 0.02943	129.45	3	< 2.2e-16 ***
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			control	-0.31595 ± 0.04056			
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			mixture	0.10338 ± 0.03941			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			sulfoxaflor	-0.01325 ± 0.04171			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Dose 2	night	Amistar®=intercept	-0.92161 ± 0.03195	57.864	3	1.68e-12 ***
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			control	-0.19971 ± 0.04544			
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			mixture	-0.18342 ± 0.04200			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			sulfoxaflor	0.07341 ± 0.04117			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		day	Amistar®=intercept	-0.30818 ± 0.02420	300.91	3	< 2.2e-16 ***
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			control	-0.11201 ± 0.03366			
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			mixture	-0.16966 ± 0.03145			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			sulfoxaflor	0.31891 ± 0.03034			
$\begin{array}{ccc} \mbox{control} & 0.30737 \pm 0.05324 \\ \mbox{mixture} & -0.10843 \pm 0.06450 \\ \mbox{sulfoxaflor} & -0.58606 \pm 0.05726 \\ \hline \mbox{day} & \mbox{Amistar} \mbox{\ensuremath{\mathbb{B}}\xspace{-intercept}} & -0.59536 \pm 0.035077 & 575.34 & 3 & < 2.2e-16 *** \\ \mbox{control} & 0.007461 \pm 0.044125 \\ \mbox{mixture} & -0.594330 \pm 0.054182 \\ \mbox{sulfoxaflor} & -0.885370 \pm 0.047179 \\ \end{array}$	Dose 3	night	Amistar®=intercept	-1.25087 ± 0.04357	295.85	3	< 2.2e-16 ***
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			control	0.30737 ± 0.05324			
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			mixture	-0.10843 ± 0.06450			
day Amistar®=intercept -0.595536 ± 0.035077 575.34 3 < 2.2e-16 *** control 0.007461 ± 0.044125 mixture -0.594330 ± 0.054182 sulfoxaflor -0.885370 ± 0.047179			sulfoxaflor	-0.58606 ± 0.05726			
control 0.007461 ± 0.044125 mixture -0.594330 ± 0.054182 sulfoxaflor -0.885370 ± 0.047179		day	Amistar®=intercept	-0.595536 ± 0.035077	575.34	3	< 2.2e-16 ***
mixture -0.594330± 0.054182 sulfoxaflor -0.885370± 0.047179			control	$0.007461 {\pm}\ 0.044125$			
sulfoxaflor -0.885370± 0.047179			mixture	-0.594330 ± 0.054182			
			sulfoxaflor	-0.885370± 0.047179			

Significance level: ***p<0.001



Fig. 20 – **Effects of chronic exposure to Sulfoxaflor, Amistar® and a mixture of both pesticides on the** *B. terrestris* **response frequency (response number per hour) during the night, and the day periods for each dose.** A) First set of doses: Sulfoxaflor 150ppb, Amistar® 2000ppb, and mixture; B) Second set of doses: Sulfoxaflor 300ppb, Amistar® 4000 ppb, and mixture; C) Third set of doses: Sulfoxaflor 600ppb, Amistar® 8000 ppb, and mixture. Raw values and error bars (95% CI) that are not sharing the same letter are significantly different at p-value <0.05 (GLM negative binomial family, Tukey post-hoc tests).

Then, concerning the second dose, while the mixture seemed to not have any significant effect on the response frequency (Fig. 20B; GLM negative binomial, Tukey's posthoc test, p-value_{night}=0.9850, p-value_{day}=0.3180), Sulfoxaflor and Amistar® enhanced it, Sulfoxaflor increasing even more the response frequency (Fig. 20B; GLM negative binomial, Tukey's posthoc test, p-values < 0.05).

During the exposure to the third and highest dose, all treatments significantly decreased the response frequency (Fig. 20C; GLM negative binomial, Tukey's post-hoc test, p-values > 0.05), apart from the group exposed to the Amistar® treatments during the day (Fig. 20C; GLM negative binomial, Tukey's post-hoc test, p-values=0.9980). In both case, Sulfoxaflor that has the strongest effect on the response frequency by decreasing it both during the night and the day (Fig. 20C; GLM negative binomial, Tukey's post-hoc test, p-values > 0.05).

5. Discussion

Our results confirmed that wild bees can present a higher sensitivity towards acute sulfoxaflor exposure than the currently used model species. Moreover, we showed that chronic exposure to field-realistic, and higher doses of pesticides alone and in a mixture can have sub-lethal impacts on the feeding behaviour of bees.

5.1. Impact of acute sulfoxaflor exposure

Most of the orally treated species were not affected by acute sulfoxaflor exposure, but *O. cornuta* still presented a higher sensitivity than the model species *B. terrestris*. Then, it also appeared that an acute dose of sulfoxaflor had a negative impact on all the species that were topically treated, except for *B. pascuorum* that presented a higher sensitivity than *B. terrestris*.

A meta-analysis of Arena & Sgolastra (2014), performed on 19 bee species commonly used in toxicological studies, showed that the sensitivity of most of those bees was lower than the sensitivity of the model species, *Apis mellifera*. However, to cover up a maximum of the wild bee variability in terms of sensitivity, they advised to multiply by 10 the LD50 values found for *Apis mellifera* (Arena & Sgolastra, 2014). Our results with other bee species seem to confirm this trend. Hence, a majority of the tested wild bee species were either not impacted by sulfoxaflor exposure, or were less affected than *B. terrestris*, the second model species. However, *O. cornuta* and *B. pascuorum* showed a sensitivity that was higher than *B. terrestris* to the oral and topical treatments.

Bees differ greatly in their ecology, and it could have been expected that these species, similar in terms of lectism, would be equally to less sensitive than *B. terrestris*. Indeed, *O. cornuta* is a polylectic spring bee that presents a solitary lifestyle (Peeters *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, it was expected that this solitary bee would be more robust than a social species. Hence, social species, such as *B. terrestris*, benefit from a colonial immunity. Complex behavioural, physiological and spatial mechanisms thus prevent the colony from being exposed to xenobiotics. This would probably make isolated individual more sensitive (Cremer *et al.*, 2007). However, in this study, a solitary species, *O. cornuta*, was more sensitive than the social one, *B. terrestris*. Moreover, another social and polylectic species, *B. pascuorum*, was more sensitive than *B. terrestris* to sulfoxaflor topical exposure.

The high variability in terms of pesticide sensitivity found amongst bees is complicated to explain. Indeed, several intra- and inter-specific differences in the physiological, and morphological traits can influence the sensitivity of a bee. First, at the intra-specific level, van der Steen (1994) showed an intra-specific correlation between the body weight and the sensitivity towards pesticides. It was also shown that the inter-specific sensitivity was inversely proportional to the mean body weight of a species (Devillers et al., 2003). Indeed, the sensitivity of a bee has been shown to increase with the surface-to-volume ratio (Johansen, 1972). Moreover, concerning the topical applications of pesticides, the sensitivity can vary as the cuticle composition varies. Indeed, the first barrier protecting the insect body from external perturbation is the chitinous cuticle that covers its whole body (Reece & Campbell, 2011). However, the insecticides are designed with the aim of easily penetrating this barrier and killing the insect pests. The effect of an insecticide depends on the rate at which it will enter the insect body. Therefore, the surface-to-volume ratio, thickness, cellular and molecular components of the cuticle can play a determining role in the sensitivity of an insects towards pesticides (Lewis, 1980). O. cornuta and B. pascuorum were more sensitive than B. terrestris while sharing some ecological traits. However, their differences in terms of size, and cuticle composition could explain their higher sensitivity.

Another characteristic that can influence the sensitivity is directly related to the detoxification mechanisms. Indeed, some species have the physiological ability to detoxify toxins, such as alkaloids contained in the floral resources of some plant species. It could therefore help with the detoxification of some pesticides, such as the neonicotinoid (Cresswell *et al.*, 2012). The sensitivity of *H. scabiosae*, *H. truncorum*, and *O. leaiana* were not higher than the sensitivity of *B. terrestris*. Indeed, these are oligolectic on the Asteraceae family, that has been shown to provide toxic secondary compounds through their pollen and nectar (Vanderplanck *et al.*, 2020).

Finally, once inside the bee body, some pesticides can already be degraded thanks to the pH of the haemolymph that can differ among bees. For example, while the honeybee pH was measured at 6.0, the *Megachile rotundata* pH was measured at 6.8. They can therefore detoxify some pesticides at different rate depending on the species (Ahmad & Johansen, 1973). Therefore, analysing the haemolymph of the species that were less sensitive than *B. terrestris*, such as *B. hypnorum*, *B. pascuorum* (oral exposure only), and *A. vaga*, could give

more explanations about the underlying mechanisms of the detoxification efficiency, and variation in terms of sensitivity.

While a majority of the treated bee species were shown as being less sensitive than *B*. *terrestris*, these results need to be analysed carefully. Indeed, for some species such as *H*. *scabiosae*, *H. truncorum*, *O. leaiana* or *O. caerulescens*, the sample size was way lower than recommended by the OECD guidelines (OECD, 2017b, 2017a). Increasing the sample size in those cases could probably make some additional effects appear.



Fig. 21 – Feeding behaviour of bees, and laboratory feeding methods for wild bees. Bee feeding behaviour: A) A group of *Apis mellifera* workers performing group feeding, i.e. trophallaxis (picture credits: U.S. Department of Agriculture), B) workers of *Bombus hypnorum* filling/feeding on nectar stocks of the colony (picture credits: Simon Merrifield), and C) *Osmia caerulescens* foraging on *Trifolium* sp. (picture credits: Nicolas Vereecken). Two laboratory feeding methods for solitary bees: D) replacing the reproductive column of a flower with an ampoule filled with the solution that needs to be tested (cross-section drawing and photography of *Megachile rotundata* on the artificial flower adapted from Ladurner *et al.*, 2003), and E) adding a petal as visual clue ahead of the ampoule containing the test solution (photography adapted from Medrzyck *et al.*, 2021).

As shown by the laboratory condition survival tests, wild bees are difficult to maintain in captivity. Therefore, a high number of individuals needs to be taken from the wild to compensate, which is not always possible for small bee communities, and bees that do not nest in aggregation. Moreover, the high percentage of non-feeders found during the oral exposure experiment, and the high mortality rate found in the control groups further diminished the sample size, and showed that the laboratory conditions must be improved to allow toxicological tests on a larger spectrum of wild bee species. For further experiments, in order to increase the sample size, some methods that have been developed to adapt the feeding of bees to their natural feeding behaviour (Fig. 21-A, B, and C) can be used. For example, a flower from which the reproductive column was removed and replaced by the test solution has already been used with Megachile rotundata and Osmia lignaria (Fig. 21-D; Ladurner et al., 2003). Difficult to install, and to adapt to specialist bees, this process has been improved by the "petal method" that seemed to increase the feeding success, and to be easily set up. This method consists of using a single petal as visual clues to indicate the treatment solution and facilitate the feeding of solitary species (Fig. 21-E; Hinarejos et al., 2014). To increase the survival under laboratory conditions, the stress caused by the catching in the wild could be avoided by rearing the species under laboratory conditions, from the first larval stages until the emergence (Eeraerts et al., 2020). However, these methods are only known for a few species (Peterson & Artz, 2014), and would have taken more than a year, what could not be done for this project.

5.2.Impact of pesticides on feeding behaviour

Our results highlighted that a chronic oral exposure to sulfoxaflor, and azoxystrobin (Amistar®) alone, as well as in a mixture can impact the feeding behaviour of *Bombus terrestris*. At field-realistic doses, and when increasing these doses twice, the pesticides and mixtures boosted the feeding behaviour by increasing the frequency of responses (nb/hour). In contrast, at the highest doses tested (four times the field-realistic doses), the response frequency was reduced, and adverse effects on the feeding behaviour of the bees appeared. Sulfoxaflor presented stronger effects than Amistar®. However, when mixed together, the effects were either equal or weaker than the effects of sulfoxaflor alone, without cancelling these effects.

Siviter and colleagues (2020) hypothesized that the decrease in egg-laying found during micro-colony exposure to sulfoxaflor was caused by a diminution of the syrup consumption. Therefore, the repeated exposure to sulfoxaflor could have adverse effects on the colony fitness, and reproductive performances (Siviter, Brown, et al., 2018). Our results concerning sulfoxaflor exposure are in line with this hypothesis, as sulfoxaflor exposure can actually impair the syrup consumption of *B. terrestris*. Sulfoxaflor presents a similar mode of action than neonicotinoids, acting as nAChRs agonists (Zhu et al., 2011). In fact, neonicotinoid exposure showed inactivation effects on the mushroom body of bee brain, a crucial part for their learning and memory (Menzel, 2012; Palmer et al., 2013). For example, Acetamiprid, an insecticidal molecule from the family of neonicotinoids, was shown to increase the water-triggered reflex when applied topically (El Hassani et al., 2008). El Hassani and colleagues (2008) then hypothesized that this molecule could have effects on bee thirst by inhibiting the satiety feeling. Despite the fact that the exposure to sulfoxaflor was oral, a similar effect could have appeared during our experiments. However, when the doses were increased four times, adverse effects of sulfoxaflor exposure appeared. This confirms that sulfoxaflor exposure has an impact on the behaviour of bees probably through an impairment of the bee cognitive system. Similar results have been found for molecule of the neonicotinoid family. For example, proboscis extension reflex assays and analogue tests of radial-arm maze on bees already revealed that acute and chronic neonicotinoid, thiamethoxam, exposure negatively impacts the cognition of bees (Samuelson et al., 2016; Stanley et al., 2015). In contrast, for acute sulfoxaflor exposure, the same tests were made and no impairment of the bumblebee learning and memory abilities were highlighted (Siviter et al., 2019). Nevertheless, these tests were only performed for acute exposure, but chronic exposure have been shown to induce larger effects on bee cognition (Siviter, Koricheva, et al., 2018).

Concerning the adverse effects on the feeding behaviour of the bees treated with Amistar®, other studies showed that molecules from the strobilurin family can negatively impact the digestive system of bees (Bartlewicz *et al.*, 2016; Campbell *et al.*, 2016; Degrandi-Hoffman *et al.*, 2015). Indeed, these molecules have shown adverse effects on digestive organs and cells, as they areknown to halt the ATP production in mitochondria of fungicidal cells (Bartlewicz *et al.*, 2016). As a matter of fact, Piraclostrobin, another strobilurin molecule, was shown to cause cytotoxic effects on bee midgut epithelial cells which may lead to malnutrition and bad nutrient absorption (Degrandi-Hoffman *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, our results confirm that the feeding behaviour of the bees is impacted by the commercial formula of the fungicide, azoxystrobin. Indeed, the increase in response frequency observed with low

doses reinforces the hypothesis of a digestion impairment caused by the fungicide. At low doses, the bee would need to absorb higher quantity of food than usual to balance the adverse effect. However, at high doses, if the adverse effects become too strong, it would be impossible to compensate for the lack of food absorption.

A last hypothesis about the increasing effect encountered at field realistic doses is that, as it already has been demonstrated with Imidacloprid and Thiamethoxam, bees could prefer food containing sulfoxaflor, or Amistar® (Kessler *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, at low doses, they would ask for food more frequently, resulting in the observed increase in the response frequencies. However, at too high doses, the adverse effects of pesticides would take over the taste, and be detected, explaining the decrease in response frequency at high pesticide doses. However, this hypothesis would need to be tested in experiments during which bees can choose between a contaminated, and a non-contaminated food source. Nevertheless, as highlighted by Kessler and his team (2015), if it was found out that bees prefer food with these pesticides, it would mean that in nature, they could not avoid feeding on treated flowers by themselves, even though it would be toxic for them.

Finally, a great number of studies highlighted synergistic effects of mixtures between insecticides and fungicides (Iverson *et al.*, 2019; Pettis *et al.*, 2013; Robinson *et al.*, 2017; Sgolastra *et al.*, 2017; H. M. Thompson *et al.*, 2014; Wade *et al.*, 2019). However, our results actually showed that the presence of Amistar® in the mixture lowered the effects of sulfoxaflor on the feeding behaviour of bumblebees.

However, our understanding of the underlying mechanisms of the impairment of the bee food intake is here limited to the observation of bee behaviour. In order to assess of the exact effects and mode of action of those molecules on bee cognition and digestive system, more studies are needed. However, the effects already highlighted in this study could be deleterious on the long run not only for the individual, but also for bee communities.

6. Conclusion and perspectives

While the current pesticide risk assessments mainly focus their efforts on mortality tests performed on a small number of bee species, of which *B. terrestris*, this study firstly showed that wild bees can present a higher sensitivity towards acute pesticide exposure. The use of automatic food dispensers also confirmed that the chronic oral exposure to field realistic doses of pesticides can affect the feeding behaviour of bees. Therefore, whereas more wild bee models are needed to better cover toxicity risks of pesticides, the sub-lethal effects should also be taken into account. Indeed, those can impact not only the individual, but also the species on the long-run.

This kind of project opens a great variety of further analyses. Indeed, *haemolymph* analyses were not included in these experiments, but molecular, proteomic and immunological analysis could help in understanding the mechanisms underlying the variation of the sensitivity amongst bee species, as well as the effects of a chronic exposure. Moreover, once the laboratory conditions for the captivity of other wild bee species will be known, more comparison could be done.

In this study, we managed to monitor the feeding behaviour of *B. terrestris* through automatic food dispensers and artificial flowers. Therefore, this method could be applied to several different Bombus species at first, and be extended to semi-social and non-territorial solitary bees. A great variety of chemicals, and mixtures could also be tested, and their effects on bee feeding behaviour assessed.

A big gap of knowledge about the pesticide lethal and sub-lethal effects on bees remains to be filled. Indeed, while the diversity of plant protection products is increasing due to the emergence of pest resistances, their toxic effects are mainly studied on a single species, *Apis mellifera*. Fortunately, the risk assessments recently began to include non-Apis species, such as *B. terrestris* and *O. bicornis*. However, the high ecological, morphological and physiological variability found amongst the 20,000 species urge the development of more tests.

7. References

Aguilar, R., Ashworth, L., Galetto, L., & Aizen, M. A. (2006). Plant reproductive susceptibility to habitat fragmentation: Review and synthesis through a meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, *9*(8), 968–980. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00927.x

Ahmad, Z., & Johansen, C. (1973). Selective Toxicity of Carbophenothion and Trichlorfon to the Honey Bee and the Alfalfa Leafcutting Bee. *Environmental Entomology*, 2(1), 27–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/2.1.27

Anderson, B., Ros, P., Wiese, T. J., & Ellis, A. G. (2014). Intraspecific divergence and convergence of floral tube length in specialized pollination interactions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1795), 20141420. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.1420

Arena, M., & Sgolastra, F. (2014). A meta-analysis comparing the sensitivity of bees to pesticides. *Ecotoxicology*, 23(3), 324–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-014-1190-1

Azpiazu, C., Bosch, J., Bortolotti, L., Medrzycki, P., Teper, D., Molowny-Horas, R., & Sgolastra, F. (2021). Toxicity of the insecticide sulfoxaflor alone and in combination with the fungicide fluxapyroxad in three bee species. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 6821. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86036-1

Babcock, J. M., Gerwick, C. B., Huang, J. X., Loso, M. R., Nakamura, G., Nolting, S. P., Rogers, R. B., Sparks, T. C., Thomas, J., Watson, G. B., & Zhu, Y. (2011). Biological characterization of sulfoxaflor, a novel insecticide. *Pest Management Science*, 67(3), 328–334. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.2069

Baron, G. L., Raine, N. E., & Brown, M. J. F. (2014). Impact of chronic exposure to a pyrethroid pesticide on bumblebees and interactions with a trypanosome parasite. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *51*(2), 460–469. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12205

Barraud, A., Vanderplanck, M., Nadarajah, S., & Michez, D. (2020). The impact of pollen quality on the sensitivity of bumblebees to pesticides. *Acta Oecologica*, *105*, 103552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2020.103552

Bartlett, D. W., Clough, J. M., Godwin, J. R., Hall, A. A., Hamer, M., & Parr-Dobrzanski, B. (2002). The strobilurin fungicides. *Pest Management Science*, 58(7), 649–662. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.520

Bartlewicz, J., Pozo, M. I., Honnay, O., Lievens, B., & Jacquemyn, H. (2016). Effects of agricultural fungicides on microorganisms associated with floral nectar: Susceptibility assays and field experiments. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23(19), 19776–19786. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7181-4

Bartomeus, I., Ascher, J. S., Gibbs, J., Danforth, B. N., Wagner, D. L., Hedtke, S. M., & Winfree, R. (2013). Historical changes in northeastern US bee pollinators related to shared ecological traits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(12), 4656–4660. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1218503110

Bartomeus, I., Ascher, J. S., Wagner, D., Danforth, B. N., Colla, S., Kornbluth, S., & Winfree, R. (2011). Climate-associated phenological advances in bee pollinators and bee-pollinated

plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(51), 20645–20649. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115559108

Bartomeus, I., Park, M. G., Gibbs, J., Danforth, B. N., Lakso, A. N., & Winfree, R. (2013). Biodiversity ensures plant-pollinator phenological synchrony against climate change. *Ecology Letters*, *16*(11), 1331–1338. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12170

Bass, C., & Field, L. M. (2018). Neonicotinoids. *Current Biology*, 28(14), R772–R773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.05.061

Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01

Batista, A. C., Domingues, C. E. da C., Costa, M. J., & Silva-Zacarin, E. C. M. (2020). Is a strobilurin fungicide capable of inducing histopathological effects on the midgut and Malpighian tubules of honey bees? *Journal of Apicultural Research*, *59*(5), 834–843. https://doi.org/10.1080/00218839.2020.1724678

Batra, S. W. T. (1966). Nesting behaviour of *Halictus scabiosae* in Switzerland (Hymenoptera, Halictidae). *Insectes Sociaux*, 13(2), 87–92.

Benton, T., & Fremlin, M. (2018). Colletes hederae Schmidt & Westrich, 1993 (the Ivy Bee) in Colchester: Some observations on phenology, development and behaviour. *Essex Naturalist (New Series)*, *35*, 179–184.

Biesmeijer, J. C. (2006). Parallel Declines in Pollinators and Insect-Pollinated Plants in Britain and the Netherlands. *Science*, *313*(5785), 351–354. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1127863

Bischoff, I. (2003). Population dynamics of the solitary digger bee *Andrena vaga* Panzer (Hymenoptera, Andrenidae) studied using mark-recapture and nest counts. *Population Ecology*, 45(3), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10144-003-0156-6

Bischoff, I., Schröder, S., & Misof, B. (2009). Differentiation and Range Expansion of North American Squash Bee, *Peponapis pruinosa* (Apidae: Apiformes) Populations Assessed by Geometric Wing Morphometry. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*, *102*(1), 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1603/008.102.0106

Bliss, C. I. (1939). The toxicity of poisons applied jointly. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 26(3), 585–615. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1939.tb06990.x

Boardman, R. (1986). *Pesticides in world agriculture: The politics of international regulation*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.

Boller, E. F., Vogt, H., Ternes, P., & Malavolta C. (2006). Working Document on Selectivity of Pesticides (2005). *Internal Newsletter Issued by the Publication Commission for the IOBC/Wprs Council and Executive Committee*, 40.

Botías, C., David, A., Horwood, J., Abdul-Sada, A., Nicholls, E., Hill, E., & Goulson, D. (2015). Neonicotinoid Residues in Wildflowers, a Potential Route of Chronic Exposure for Bees. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(21), 12731–12740. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03459

Brand, N., & Chapuisat, M. (2012). Born to be bee, fed to be worker? The caste system of a primitively eusocial insect. *Frontiers in Zoology*, *9*(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-9-35

Brand, N., & Chapuisat, M. (2014). Impact of helpers on colony productivity in a primitively eusocial bee. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, *68*(2), 291–298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-013-1644-0

Brittain, C., Williams, N., Kremen, C., & Klein, A.-M. (2013). Synergistic effects of non-*Apis* bees and honey bees for pollination services. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280(1754), 20122767. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.2767

Brown, M. J. F., Dicks, L. V., Paxton, R. J., Baldock, K. C. R., Barron, A. B., Chauzat, M.-P., Freitas, B. M., Goulson, D., Jepsen, S., Kremen, C., Li, J., Neumann, P., Pattemore, D. E., Potts, S. G., Schweiger, O., Seymour, C. L., & Stout, J. C. (2016). A horizon scan of future threats and opportunities for pollinators and pollination. *PeerJ*, *4*, e2249. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2249

Cameron, S. A., Lozier, J. D., Strange, J. P., Koch, J. B., Cordes, N., Solter, L. F., & Griswold, T. L. (2011). Patterns of widespread decline in North American bumble bees. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *108*(2), 662–667. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1014743108

Campbell, J. B., Nath, R., Gadau, J., Fox, T., DeGrandi-Hoffman, G., & Harrison, J. F. (2016). The fungicide Pristine® inhibits mitochondrial function in vitro but not flight metabolic rates in honey bees. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 86, 11–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinsphys.2015.12.003

Cane, J. H., Minckley, R. L., Kervin, L. J., Roulston, T. H., & Williams, N. M. (2006). Complex Responses Within A Desert Bee Guild (Hymenoptera: Apiformes) To Urban Habitat Fragmentation. *Ecological Applications*, *16*(2), 632–644. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2006)016[0632:CRWADB]2.0.CO;2

Cane, J. H., & Neff, J. L. (2011). Predicted fates of ground-nesting bees in soil heated by wildfire: Thermal tolerances of life stages and a survey of nesting depths. *Biological Conservation*, 144(11), 2631–2636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.07.019

Cariveau, D. P., Williams, N. M., Benjamin, F. E., & Winfree, R. (2013). Response diversity to land use occurs but does not consistently stabilise ecosystem services provided by native pollinators. *Ecology Letters*, *16*(7), 903–911. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12126

Cariveau, D. P., & Winfree, R. (2015). Causes of variation in wild bee responses to anthropogenic drivers. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 10, 104–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2015.05.004

Carson, R. (1962). *Silent spring* (40th anniversary ed., 1st Mariner Books ed). Houghton Mifflin, Boston, U.S.A.

Carvalheiro, L. G., Biesmeijer, J. C., Franzén, M., Aguirre-Gutiérrez, J., Garibaldi, L. A., Helm, A., Michez, D., Pöyry, J., Reemer, M., Schweiger, O., Leon van den, B., WallisDeVries, M. F., & Kunin, W. E. (2020). Soil eutrophication shaped the composition of pollinator assemblages during the past century. *Ecography*, 43(2), 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.04656

Centner, T. J., Brewer, B., & Leal, I. (2018). Reducing damages from sulfoxaflor use through mitigation measures to increase the protection of pollinator species. *Land Use Policy*, *75*, 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.03.016

Chaplin-Kramer, R., Dombeck, E., Gerber, J., Knuth, K. A., Mueller, N. D., Mueller, M., Ziv, G., & Klein, A.-M. (2014). Global malnutrition overlaps with pollinator-dependent micronutrient production. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1794), 20141799. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.1799

Colin, M.-E., & Belzunces, L. P. (1992). Evidence of synergy between prochloraz and deltamethrin in *Apis mellifera* L.: A convenient biological approach. *Pesticide Science*, *36*(2), 115–119. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.2780360206

Cremer, S., Armitage, S. A. O., & Schmid-Hempel, P. (2007). Social Immunity. *Current Biology*, *17*(16), R693–R702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.06.008

Cresswell, J. E., Page, C. J., Uygun, M. B., Holmbergh, M., Li, Y., Wheeler, J. G., Laycock, I., Pook, C. J., de Ibarra, N. H., Smirnoff, N., & Tyler, C. R. (2012). Differential sensitivity of honey bees and bumble bees to a dietary insecticide (imidacloprid). *Zoology*, *115*(6), 365–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.zool.2012.05.003

Danforth, B. N., Sipes, S., Fang, J., & Brady, S. G. (2006). The history of early bee diversification based on five genes plus morphology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *103*(41), 15118–15123. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0604033103

Degrandi-Hoffman, G., Chen, Y., Watkins Dejong, E., Chambers, M. L., & Hidalgo, G. (2015). Effects of Oral Exposure to Fungicides on Honey Bee Nutrition and Virus Levels. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, *108*(6), 2518–2528. https://doi.org/10.1093/jee/tov251

Deguine, J.-P., Ferron, P., & Russel, D. (2014). Crop protection: From agrochemistry to agroecology. Science Publishers, Enfield, NH, U.S.A.

Devillers, J., Decourtye, A., Budzinski, H., Pham-Delègue, M. H., Cluzeau, S., & Maurin, G. (2003). Comparative toxicity and hazards of pesticides to *Apis* and non-*Apis* bees. A chemometrical study. *SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research*, *14*(5–6), 389–403. https://doi.org/10.1080/10629360310001623980

Domingues, C. E. C., Abdalla, F. C., Balsamo, P. J., Pereira, B. V. R., Hausen, M. de A., Costa, M. J., & Silva-Zacarin, E. C. M. (2017). Thiamethoxam and picoxystrobin reduce the survival and overload the hepato-nephrocitic system of the Africanized honeybee. *Chemosphere*, *186*, 994–1005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.07.133

Drossart, M., Rasmont, P., Vanormelingen, P., Dufrêne, M., Folschweiller, M., Pauly, A., Vereecken, N. J., Vray, S., Zambra, E., D'Haeseleer, J., & Michez, D. (2019). *Belgian Red List of Bees* (Belgian Science Policy 2018 (BRAIN-be-(Belgian Research Action through Interdisciplinary Networks). Mons: Presse universitaire de l'Université de Mons.).

Duchenne, F., Thébault, E., Michez, D., Gérard, M., Devaux, C., Rasmont, P., Vereecken, N. J., & Fontaine, C. (2020). Long-term effects of global change on occupancy and flight period of wild bees in Belgium. *Global Change Biology*, *26*(12), 6753–6766. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15379

Eeraerts, M., Pisman, M., Vanderhaegen, R., Meeus, I., & Smagghe, G. (2020). Recommendations for standardized oral toxicity test protocols for larvae of solitary bees, Osmia spp. *Apidologie*, *51*(1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13592-019-00704-w

El Hassani, A. K., Dacher, M., Gary, V., Lambin, M., Gauthier, M., & Armengaud, C. (2008). Effects of Sublethal Doses of Acetamiprid and Thiamethoxam on the Behavior of the Honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *54*(4), 653–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-007-9071-8

Feltham, H., Park, K., & Goulson, D. (2014). Field realistic doses of pesticide imidacloprid reduce bumblebee pollen foraging efficiency. *Ecotoxicology*, 23(3), 317–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-014-1189-7

Fortel, L., Henry, M., Guilbaud, L., Guirao, A. L., Kuhlmann, M., Mouret, H., Rollin, O., & Vaissière, B. E. (2014). Decreasing Abundance, Increasing Diversity and Changing Structure of the Wild Bee Community (Hymenoptera: Anthophila) along an Urbanization Gradient. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(8), e104679. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0104679

Franklin, E. L., & Raine, N. E. (2019). Moving beyond honeybee-centric pesticide risk assessments to protect all pollinators. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, *3*(10), 1373–1375. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0987-y

Gallai, N., Salles, J.-M., Settele, J., & Vaissière, B. E. (2009). Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world agriculture confronted with pollinator decline. *Ecological Economics*, *68*(3), 810–821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2008.06.014

Garibaldi, L. A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Winfree, R., Aizen, M. A., Bommarco, R., Cunningham, S. A., Kremen, C., Carvalheiro, L. G., Harder, L. D., Afik, O., Bartomeus, I., Benjamin, F., Boreux, V., Cariveau, D., Chacoff, N. P., Dudenhoffer, J. H., Freitas, B. M., Ghazoul, J., Greenleaf, S., ... Klein, A. M. (2013). Wild Pollinators Enhance Fruit Set of Crops Regardless of Honey Bee Abundance. *Science*, *339*(6127), 1608–1611. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1230200

Garratt, M. P. D., Breeze, T. D., Jenner, N., Polce, C., Biesmeijer, J. C., & Potts, S. G. (2014). Avoiding a bad apple: Insect pollination enhances fruit quality and economic value. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 184*, 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.032

Gerard, M., Michez, D., Debat, V., Fullgrabe, L., Meeus, I., Piot, N., Sculfort, O., Vastrade, M., Smagghe, G., & Vanderplanck, M. (2018). Stressful conditions reveal decrease in size, modification of shape but relatively stable asymmetry in bumblebee wings. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 15169. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-33429-4

Gérard, M., Vanderplanck, M., Wood, T., & Michez, D. (2020). Global warming and plant– pollinator mismatches. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences*, 4(1), 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1042/ETLS20190139

Geslin, B., Oddie, M., Folschweiller, M., Legras, G., Seymour, C. L., van Veen, F. J. F., & Thébault, E. (2016). Spatiotemporal changes in flying insect abundance and their functional diversity as a function of distance to natural habitats in a mass flowering crop. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 229, 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.05.010

Ghisbain, G., Gérard, M., Wood, T. J., Hines, H. M., & Michez, D. (2021). Expanding insect pollinators in the A nthropocene. *Biological Reviews*, brv.12777. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12777

Gill, R. J., & Raine, N. E. (2014). Chronic impairment of bumblebee natural foraging behaviour induced by sublethal pesticide exposure. *Functional Ecology*, 28(6), 1459–1471. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12292

Godfray, H. C. J., Blacquière, T., Field, L. M., Hails, R. S., Petrokofsky, G., Potts, S. G., Raine, N. E., Vanbergen, A. J., & McLean, A. R. (2014). A restatement of the natural science evidence base concerning neonicotinoid insecticides and insect pollinators. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1786), 20140558. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.0558

Gonzalez, V. H., Patton, R., Plascencia, M., Girişgin, A. O., Çakmak, I., & Barthell, J. F. (2018). High levels of tolerance between nestmates and non-nestmates in the primitively eusocial sweat bee *Halictus scabiosae* (Rossi) in Turkey (Hymenoptera: Halictidae). *Insectes Sociaux*, 65(2), 339–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00040-018-0602-2

Gough, H. J., McIndoe, E. C., & Lewis, G. B. (1994). The use of dimethoate as a reference compound in laboratory acute toxicity tests on honey bees (*Apis mellifera* L.) 1981–1992. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 33(2), 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/00218839.1994.11100859

Goulson, D. (2003). Conserving wild bees for crop pollination. *Food, Agriculture & Environment*, 1(1), 142–144.

Goulson, D. (2010). *Bumblebees: Behaviour, ecology, and conservation* (2nd ed). New York: Oxford University Press.

Goulson, D., & Darvill, B. (2004). Niche overlap and diet breadth in bumblebees; are rare species more specialized in their choice of flowers? *Apidologie*, *35*(1), 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1051/apido:2003062

Goulson, D., Nicholls, E., Botias, C., & Rotheray, E. L. (2015). Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. *Science*, *347*(6229), 1255957–1255957. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1255957

Gross, M. (2013). EU ban puts spotlight on complex effects of neonicotinoids. *Current Biology*, 23(11), R462–R464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.05.030

Hayes, W. J. (1956). The effect of known repeated oral doses of chlorophenothane (DDT) in man. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, *162*(9), 890. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1956.72970260008012

Heard, M. S., Baas, J., Dorne, J.-L., Lahive, E., Robinson, A. G., Rortais, A., Spurgeon, D. J., Svendsen, C., & Hesketh, H. (2017). Comparative toxicity of pesticides and environmental contaminants in bees: Are honey bees a useful proxy for wild bee species? *Science of The Total Environment*, 578, 357–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.180

Hillocks, R. J. (2012). Farming with fewer pesticides: EU pesticide review and resulting challenges for UK agriculture. *Crop Protection*, 31(1), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2011.08.008

Hinarejos, S., Domene, X., & Bosch, J. (2014). Oral toxicity of dimethoate to adult *Osmia* cornuta using an improved laboratory feeding method for solitary bees. *12th Int. Symp. of ICP-PR Hazards of Pesticides to Bees*, 15–17.

Hladik, M. L., Vandever, M., & Smalling, K. L. (2016). Exposure of native bees foraging in an agricultural landscape to current-use pesticides. *Science of The Total Environment*, *542*, 469–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.10.077

Horne, M. (1995). Leaf Area and Toughness: Effects on Nesting Material Preferences of *Megachile rotundata* (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae). *Annals of the Entomological Society of America*, 88(6), 868–875. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/88.6.868

Hunter, M. D. (2002). Landscape structure, habitat fragmentation, and the ecology of insects. *Agriculture and Forest Entomology*, *4*, 159–166.

Iverson, A., Hale, C., Richardson, L., Miller, O., & McArt, S. (2019). Synergistic effects of three sterol biosynthesis inhibiting fungicides on the toxicity of a pyrethroid and neonicotinoid insecticide to bumble bees. *Apidologie*, *50*(5), 733–744. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13592-019-00681-0

Jepson, H., Hofmann, H., Cook, D., & Wickham, H. (2021). *ggmosaic: Mosaic Plots in the 'ggplot2' Framework* (0.3.3) [Computer software]. https://github.com/haleyjeppson/ggmosaic

Johansen, C. A. (1972). Toxicity of Field-Weathered Insecticide Residues to Four Kinds of Bees. *Environmental Entomology*, 1(3), 393–394. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/1.3.393

Kells, A. R., & Goulson, D. (2003). Preferred nesting sites of bumblebee queens (Hymenoptera: Apidae) in agroecosystems in the UK. *Biological Conservation*, *109*(2), 165–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(02)00131-3

Kerr, J. T., Pindar, A., Galpern, P., Packer, L., Potts, S. G., Roberts, S. M., Rasmont, P., Schweiger, O., Colla, S. R., Richardson, L. L., Wagner, D. L., Gall, L. F., Sikes, D. S., & Pantoja, A. (2015). Climate change impacts on bumblebees converge across continents. *Science*, *349*(6244), 177–180. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa7031

Kessler, S. C., Tiedeken, E. J., Simcock, K. L., Derveau, S., Mitchell, J., Softley, S., Radcliffe, A., Stout, J. C., & Wright, G. A. (2015). Bees prefer foods containing neonicotinoid pesticides. *Nature*, *521*(7550), 74–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14414

Klatt, B. K., Holzschuh, A., Westphal, C., Clough, Y., Smit, I., Pawelzik, E., & Tscharntke, T. (2014). Bee pollination improves crop quality, shelf life and commercial value. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1775), 20132440. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2440

Klein, A.-M., Vaissière, B. E., Cane, J. H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S. A., Kremen, C., & Tscharntke, T. (2007). Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274(1608), 303–313. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3721

Koziol, F. S., & Witkowski, J. F. (1982). Synergism Studies with Binary Mixtures of Permethrin plus Methyl Parathion, Chlorpyrifos, and Malathion on European Corn Borer Larvae. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, 75(1), 28–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/jee/75.1.28

Krupke, C. H., Hunt, G. J., Eitzer, B. D., Andino, G., & Given, K. (2012). Multiple Routes of Pesticide Exposure for Honey Bees Living Near Agricultural Fields. *PLoS ONE*, 7(1), e29268. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029268

Ladurner, E., Bosch, J., Maini, S., & Kemp, W. P. (2003). A method to feed individual bees (Hymenoptera: Apiformes) known amounts of pesticides. *Apidologie*, *34*(6), 597–602. https://doi.org/10.1051/apido:2003055

Laycock, I., Lenthall, K. M., Barratt, A. T., & Cresswell, J. E. (2012). Effects of imidacloprid, a neonicotinoid pesticide, on reproduction in worker bumble bees (*Bombus terrestris*). *Ecotoxicology*, 21(7), 1937–1945. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-012-0927-y

Le Guyader, H., & Lecointre, G. (2017). La classification phylogénétique du vivant (4e édition, Vol. 2). Belin.

Lewis, C. T. (1980). The Penetration of Cuticle by Insecticides. In T. A. Miller (Ed.), *Cuticle Techniques in Arthropods* (pp. 367–400). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-6076-9_10

Lienhard, A., Mirwald, L., Hötzl, T., Kranner, I., & Kastberger, G. (2010). Trade-Off between Foraging Activity and Infestation by Nest Parasites in the Primitively Eusocial Bee *Halictus scabiosae*. *Psyche:* A *Journal of Entomology*, 2010, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/707501

Long, E. Y., & Krupke, C. H. (2016). Non-cultivated plants present a season-long route of pesticide exposure for honey bees. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 11629. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11629

Lüdecke, D. (2018). ggeffects: Tidy Data Frames of Marginal Effects from Regression Models. *Journal of Open Source Software*, *3*(26), 772. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.00772

Macht, D. I. (1929). Pharmacological synergism of stereoisomers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 15(1), 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.15.1.63

Maciel De Almeida Correia, M. de L. (1977). Sur l'origine des résines employées par *Heriades truncorum* L (Hymenoptera, Megachilidae) pour la construction de ses nids. *Apidologie*, 8(2), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1051/apido:19770201

Medrzyck, P., Hellström, S., Straw, E., Linguadoca, A., Jürison, M., Alaux, C., Barascou, L., Brown, M. J. F., Costa, C., De la Rúa, P., de Miranda, J. R., di Prisco, G., Forsgren, E., Karise, R., Le-Conte, Y., Mänd, M., Martínez-López, V., Neumann, P., Onorati, P., ... Yanez, O. (2021). *Improved protocols for testing agrochemicals in bees*. Deliverable D3.2. EU Horizon 2020 PoshBee Project, Grant agreement No. 773921.

Menzel, R. (2012). The honeybee as a model for understanding the basis of cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*(11), 758–768. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3357

Michener, C. D. (1969). Comparative Social Behavior of Bees. Annual Review of Entomology, 14(1), 299–342. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.14.010169.001503

Michener, C. D. (2007). *The bees of the world* (2nd ed). Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.

Michez, D., Eardley, C. D., Timmermann, K., & Danforth, B. N. (2010). Unexpected Polylecty in the Bee Genus Meganomia (Hymenoptera: Apoidea: Melittidae). *Journal of the Kansas Entomological Society*, *83*(3), 221–230. https://doi.org/10.2317/JKES0911.20.1

Michez, D., Rasmont, P., Terzo, M., & Vereecken, N. J. (2019). *Bees of Europe* (NAP Editions).

Michez, D., Vanderplanck, M., & Engel, M. S. (2011). Fossil bees and their plant associates. In S. Patiny (Ed.), *Evolution of Plant-Pollinator Relationships* (pp. 103–164). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139014113.006

Miličić, M., Vujić, A., & Cardoso, P. (2018). Effects of climate change on the distribution of hoverfly species (Diptera: Syrphidae) in Southeast Europe. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(5), 1173–1187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-017-1486-6

Miller-Struttmann, N. E., Geib, J. C., Franklin, J. D., Kevan, P. G., Holdo, R. M., Ebert-May, D., Lynn, A. M., Kettenbach, J. A., Hedrick, E., & Galen, C. (2015). Functional mismatch in a bumble bee pollination mutualism under climate change. *Science*, *349*(6255), 1541–1544. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aab0868

Müller, A., & Kuhlmann, M. (2008). Pollen hosts of western palaearctic bees of the genus Colletes (Hymenoptera: Colletidae): the Asteraceae paradox: POLLEN HOSTS OF COLLETES BEES. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 95(4), 719–733. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.2008.01113.x

Nieto, A., Roberts, S. P. M., Kemp, J., Rasmont, P., Kuhlmann, M., Criado, M. G., Biesmeijer, J. C., Bogush, P., Dathe, H. H., De la Rúa, P., De Meulemeester, T., Dehon, M., Dewulf, A., Ortiz-Sánchez, F. J., Lhomme, P., Pauly, A., Potts, S. G., Praz, C., Quaranta, M., ... Michez, D. (2014). *European red list of bees*. Luxembourg: Publications Office. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2779/77003

OECD. (2017a). Test No. 246: Bumblebee, Acute Contact Toxicity Test. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264284104-en

OECD. (2017b). Test No. 247: Bumblebee, Acute Oral Toxicity Test. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264284128-en

Ollerton, J., Winfree, R., & Tarrant, S. (2011). How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? *Oikos*, *120*(3), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18644.x

Palmer, M. J., Moffat, C., Saranzewa, N., Harvey, J., Wright, G. A., & Connolly, C. N. (2013). Cholinergic pesticides cause mushroom body neuronal inactivation in honeybees. *Nature Communications*, *4*(1), 1634. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2648

Pamminger, T. (2021). Extrapolating Acute Contact Bee Sensitivity to Insecticides Based on Body Weight Using a Phylogenetically Informed Interspecies Scaling Framework. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 40(7), 2042–2050. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5045

Parmesan, C., Ryrholm, N., Stefanescu, C., Hill, J. K., Thomas, C. D., Descimon, H., Huntley, B., Kaila, L., Kullberg, J., Tammaru, T., Tennent, W. J., Thomas, J. A., & Warren, M. (1999). Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. *Nature*, *399*(6736), 579–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/21181

Peeters, T. M. J., Nieuwenhuijsen, H., Smit, J., Van der Meer, F., Raemakers, I. P., Heitmans, W. R. B., Van Achterberg, K., Kwak, M., Loonstra, A. J., De Rond, J., Roos, M., & Reemer, M. (2012). *De Nederlandse bijen*.

Peterson, S. S., & Artz, D. R. (2014). Production of Solitary Bees for Pollination in the United States. In *Mass Production of Beneficial Organisms* (pp. 653–681). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-391453-8.00019-4

Pettis, J. S., Lichtenberg, E. M., Andree, M., Stitzinger, J., Rose, R., & vanEngelsdorp, D. (2013). Crop Pollination Exposes Honey Bees to Pesticides Which Alters Their Susceptibility to the Gut Pathogen *Nosema ceranae*. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), e70182. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070182

Phelps, J. D., Strang, C. G., Gbylik-Sikorska, M., Sniegocki, T., Posyniak, A., & Sherry, D. F. (2018). Imidacloprid slows the development of preference for rewarding food sources in bumblebees (Bombus impatiens). *Ecotoxicology*, 27(2), 175–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-017-1883-3

Piechowicz, B., Szpyrka, E., Zaręba, L., Podbielska, M., & Grodzicki, P. (2018). Transfer of the Active Ingredients of Some Plant Protection Products from Raspberry Plants to Beehives. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 75(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-017-0488-4

Potts, S. G., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V., Ngo, H. T., Aizen, M. A., Biesmeijer, J. C., Breeze, T. D., Dicks, L. V., Garibaldi, L. A., Hill, R., Settele, J., & Vanbergen, A. J. (2016). Safeguarding pollinators and their values to human well-being. *Nature*, *540*(7632), 220–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20588

Powney, G. D., Carvell, C., Edwards, M., Morris, R. K. A., Roy, H. E., Woodcock, B. A., & Isaac, N. J. B. (2019). Widespread losses of pollinating insects in Britain. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 1018. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08974-9

Praz, C. J., Müller, A., & Dorn, S. (2008). Specialized bees fail to develop on non-host pollen: Do plant chemically protect their pollen? *Ecology*, 89(3), 795–804. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0751.1

Puntener, W. (1992). *Manual for field trials in Plant Protection* (3rd Edition). Ciba-GEIGY Limited. Plant Protection Division.

R Core Team. (2021). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/

Rader, R., Reilly, J., Bartomeus, I., & Winfree, R. (2013). Native bees buffer the negative impact of climate warming on honey bee pollination of watermelon crops. *Global Change Biology*, *19*(10), 3103–3110. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12264

Rasmont, P., Franzén, M., Lecocq, T., Harpke, A., Roberts, S. P. M., Biesmeijer, K., Castro, L., Cederberg, B., Dvořák, L., Fitzpatrick, Ú., Gonseth, Y., Haubruge, E., Mahé, G., Manino, A., Michez, D., Neumayer, J., Ødegaard, F., Paukkunen, J., Pawlikowski, T., ... Schweiger, O. (2015). *Climatic Risk and Distribution Atlas of European Bumblebees*. Pensoft.

Rasmont, P., Pauly, A., Patiny, S., Michez, D., Barbier, Y., & Haubruge, E. (2005). The survey of wild bees (Hymenoptera, Apoidea) in Belgium and France. *Food and Agriculture Organisation, Rome*, 18.

Reece, J. B., & Campbell, N. A. (Eds.). (2011). *Campbell biology* (9th ed). Benjamin Cummings / Pearson.

Robinson, A., Hesketh, H., Lahive, E., Horton, A. A., Svendsen, C., Rortais, A., Dorne, J. L., Baas, J., Heard, M. S., & Spurgeon, D. J. (2017). Comparing bee species responses to chemical mixtures: Common response patterns? *PLOS ONE*, *12*(6), e0176289. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176289

Samuelson, E. E. W., Chen-Wishart, Z. P., Gill, R. J., & Leadbeater, E. (2016). Effect of acute pesticide exposure on bee spatial working memory using an analogue of the radial-arm maze. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 38957. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep38957

Scheper, J., Reemer, M., van Kats, R., Ozinga, W. A., van der Linden, G. T. J., Schaminée, J. H. J., Siepel, H., & Kleijn, D. (2014). Museum specimens reveal loss of pollen host plants as key factor driving wild bee decline in The Netherlands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *111*(49), 17552–17557. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1412973111

Schmuck, R., Stadler, T., & Schmidt, H.-W. (2003). Field relevance of a synergistic effect observed in the laboratory between an EBI fungicide and a chloronicotinyl insecticide in the honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L, Hymenoptera): Synergistic effect between fungicide and thiacloprid in honeybee. *Pest Management Science*, 59(3), 279–286. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.626

Sgolastra, F., Hinarejos, S., Pitts-Singer, T. L., Boyle, N. K., Joseph, T., Lūckmann, J., Raine, N. E., Singh, R., Williams, N. M., & Bosch, J. (2019). Pesticide Exposure Assessment Paradigm for Solitary Bees. *Environmental Entomology*, 48(1), 22–35. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/nvy105

Sgolastra, F., Medrzycki, P., Bortolotti, L., Renzi, M. T., Tosi, S., Bogo, G., Teper, D., Porrini, C., Molowny-Horas, R., & Bosch, J. (2017). Synergistic mortality between a neonicotinoid insecticide and an ergosterol-biosynthesis-inhibiting fungicide in three bee species: Synergistic interactions between pesticides in three bee species. *Pest Management Science*, *73*(6), 1236–1243. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.4449

Siviter, H., Bailes, E. J., Martin, C. D., Oliver, T. R., Koricheva, J., Leadbeater, E., & Brown, M. J. F. (2021). Agrochemicals interact synergistically to increase bee mortality. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03787-7

Siviter, H., Brown, M. J. F., & Leadbeater, E. (2018). Sulfoxaflor exposure reduces bumblebee reproductive success. *Nature*, *561*(7721), 109–112. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0430-6

Siviter, H., Horner, J., Brown, M. J. F., & Leadbeater, E. (2020). Sulfoxaflor exposure reduces egg laying in bumblebees *Bombus terrestris*. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 57(1), 160–169. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13519

Siviter, H., Koricheva, J., Brown, M. J. F., & Leadbeater, E. (2018). Quantifying the impact of pesticides on learning and memory in bees. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *55*(6), 2812–2821. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13193

Siviter, H., Scott, A., Pasquier, G., Pull, C. D., Brown, M. J. F., & Leadbeater, E. (2019). No evidence for negative impacts of acute sulfoxaflor exposure on bee olfactory conditioning or working memory. *PeerJ*, 7, e7208. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7208

Somme, L., Vanderplanck, M., Michez, D., Lombaerde, I., Moerman, R., Wathelet, B., Wattiez, R., Lognay, G., & Jacquemart, A.-L. (2015). Pollen and nectar quality drive the major and minor floral choices of bumble bees. *Apidologie*, 46(1), 92–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13592-014-0307-0

Sparks, T. C., Watson, G. B., Loso, M. R., Geng, C., Babcock, J. M., & Thomas, J. D. (2013). Sulfoxaflor and the sulfoximine insecticides: Chemistry, mode of action and basis for efficacy on resistant insects. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, *107*(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2013.05.014

Spurgeon, D., Hesketh, H., Lahive, E., Svendsen, C., Baas, J., Robinson, A., Horton, A., & Heard, M. (2016). Chronic oral lethal and sub-lethal toxicities of different binary mixtures of pesticides and contaminants in bees (*Apis mellifera*, *Osmia bicornis* and *Bombus terrestris*). *EFSA Supporting Publications*, *13*(9). https://doi.org/10.2903/sp.efsa.2016.EN-1076

Stanley, D. A., Smith, K. E., & Raine, N. E. (2015). Bumblebee learning and memory is impaired by chronic exposure to a neonicotinoid pesticide. *Scientific Reports*, *5*(1), 16508. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep16508

Steffan, S. A., Dharampal, P. S., Diaz-Garcia, L., Currie, C. R., Zalapa, J., & Hittinger, C. T. (2017). Empirical, Metagenomic, and Computational Techniques Illuminate the Mechanisms by which Fungicides Compromise Bee Health. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, *128*, 54631. https://doi.org/10.3791/54631

Tadei, R., Domingues, C. E. C., Malaquias, J. B., Camilo, E. V., Malaspina, O., & Silva-Zacarin, E. C. M. (2019). Late effect of larval co-exposure to the insecticide clothianidin and fungicide pyraclostrobin in Africanized *Apis mellifera*. *Scientific Reports*, *9*(1), 3277. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39383-z

Tamburini, G., Wintermantel, D., Allan, M. J., Dean, R. R., Knauer, A., Albrecht, M., & Klein, A.-M. (2021). Sulfoxaflor insecticide and azoxystrobin fungicide have no major impact on honeybees in a realistic-exposure semi-field experiment. *Science of The Total Environment*, 778, 146084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146084

Thompson, H. M., Fryday, S. L., Harkin, S., & Milner, S. (2014). Potential impacts of synergism in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) of exposure to neonicotinoids and sprayed fungicides in crops. *Apidologie*, 45(5), 545–553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13592-014-0273-6

Thompson, H., & Wilkins, S. (2003). Assessment of the synergy and repellency of pyrethroid/fungicide mixtures. *Bulletin of Insectology*, *56*(1), 131–134.

Tomizawa, M., & Casida, J. E. (2003). Selective toxicity of Neonicotinoids attributable to specificity of insect and mammalian nicotinic receptors. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 48(1), 339–364. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.48.091801.112731

Tuell, J. K., & Isaacs, R. (2010). Community and Species-Specific Responses of Wild Bees to Insect Pest Control Programs Applied to a Pollinator-Dependent Crop. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, *103*(3), 668–675. https://doi.org/10.1603/EC09314

Ulrich, Y., Perrin, N., & Chapuisat, M. (2009). Flexible social organization and high incidence of drifting in the sweat bee, *Halictus scabiosae*. *Molecular Ecology*, *18*(8), 1791–1800. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04154.x

USEPA. (2016). United States Environmental Protection Agency. 2016 Addendum to the Environmental Fate and Ecological Risk Assessment for Sulfoxaflor Registration.

USEPA. (2019). Ecological Risk Assessment for the Registration of Sulfoxaflor.

van der Steen, J. J. M. (1994). Methods to determine the acute contact and oral LD50 of pesticides for bumble bees (*Bombus terrestris* L.). *Apidologie*, 25, 463–465.

Vanderplanck, M., Gilles, H., Nonclercq, D., Duez, P., & Gerbaux, P. (2020). Asteraceae Paradox: Chemical and Mechanical Protection of Taraxacum Pollen. *Insects*, *11*(5), 304. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects11050304

Vray, S., Rollin, O., Rasmont, P., Dufrêne, M., Michez, D., & Dendoncker, N. (2019). A century of local changes in bumblebee communities and landscape composition in Belgium. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 23(3), 489–501. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-019-00139-9

Wade, A., Lin, C.-H., Kurkul, C., Regan, E. R., & Johnson, R. M. (2019). Combined Toxicity of Insecticides and Fungicides Applied to California Almond Orchards to Honey Bee Larvae and Adults. *Insects*, *10*(1), 20. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects10010020

Westerkamp, C. (1997). Keel blossoms: Bee flowers with adaptations against bees. *Flora*, *192*(2), 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0367-2530(17)30767-3

Wickham, H. (2016). *ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis* (2nd ed. 2016). Springer International Publishing : Imprint: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4

Williams, N. M., Crone, E. E., Roulston, T. H., Minckley, R. L., Packer, L., & Potts, S. G. (2010). Ecological and life-history traits predict bee species responses to environmental disturbances. *Biological Conservation*, *143*(10), 2280–2291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.03.024

Willis Chan, D. S., Prosser, R. S., Rodríguez-Gil, J. L., & Raine, N. E. (2019). Assessment of risk to hoary squash bees (*Peponapis pruinosa*) and other ground-nesting bees from systemic insecticides in agricultural soil. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 11870. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47805-1

Wilson, J. S., Forister, M. L., & Carril, O. M. (2017). Interest exceeds understanding in public support of bee conservation. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *15*(8), 460–466. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1531

Zattara, E. E., & Aizen, M. A. (2021). Worldwide occurrence records suggest a global decline in bee species richness. *One Earth*, 4(1), 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2020.12.005

Zhu, Y., Loso, M. R., Watson, Gerald. B., Sparks, T. C., Rogers, R. B., Huang, J. X., Gerwick, B. C., Babcock, J. M., Kelley, D., Hegde, V. B., Nugent, B. M., Renga, J. M., Denholm, I., Gorman, K., DeBoer, G. J., Hasler, J., Meade, T., & Thomas, J. D. (2011). Discovery and Characterization of Sulfoxaflor, a Novel Insecticide Targeting Sap-Feeding Pests. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *59*(7), 2950–2957. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf102765x

8. Appendices

8.1. Appendix 1 – Pesticide acute exposure of the wild bees



Figure 1 – Timeline of the acute oral exposure experiment.



Figure 2 – Syrup consumption by an Andrena vaga female during an acute oral exposure experiment.



Figure 3 – Timeline of the acute topical exposure experiment.



8.2. Appendix 2 – Complete results of *Bombus terrestris* exposure

Figure 4 – Acute exposure sulfoxaflor of *B. terrestris*, the model species. A) Oral exposure results, and B) topical exposure results for *B. terrestris*. Dimethoate was used as positive control, and the negative control consisted into a 50% v/v water sugar solution with 0.05% acetone. Within each graph, the treatments that do not share the same letter are different at p-value<0.005 (Post-hoc, Pairwise comparisons using Pairwise comparison of proportions (chi-squared) with Holm correction).

Exposure	Treatments	Dead	Alive	χ^2	df	p-value
Oral	Control	0	59	91.299	2	1.494828e-20***
		19.01	39.99			
		0%	100%			
	Sulfoxaflor	18	42			
		19.33	40.67			
		30.0%	70.0%			
	Dimetoate	30	0			
		9.66	20.34			
		100.0%	0.0%			
Topical	Control	7	61	76.375	2	2.602882e-17***
		34.19	33.80			
		10.3%	89.7%			
	Sulfoxaflor	45	18			
		33.69	33.31			
		67.2%	32.8%			
	Dimetoate	36	4			
		20.11	19.89			
		90.0%	10.0%			

 Table 1 – Effects of acute sulfoxaflor exposure on the mortality rates of *B. terrestris*. (Legend: Number of individuals; *expected number of individuals*; proportion of individuals)
8.3. Appendix 3 – Monitoring of the automatic dispenser room

8.3.1. Temperatures





8.3.2. Humidity



